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Corporate Information

AR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Hua

Mr. Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel

Mr. Sun Jingang

Mr. Cheung Ka Wai (Appointed on 31 July 2024)
Mr. Tse Chun Chung (Resigned on 31 July 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Au Hei Ching

Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace

Ms. Zhou Xiaochun

Mr. Huang Zhenming (Appointed on 24 January 2024)
Mr. Zheng Yu (Resigned on 24 January 2024)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace (Chairman)

Mr. Au Hei Ching

Ms. Zhou Xiaochun

Mr. Huang Zhenming (Appointed on 24 January 2024)
Mr. Zheng Yu (Resigned on 24 January 2024)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace (Chairman)
Mr. Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel

Mr. Au Hei Ching

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace (Chairman)
Mr. Chen Hua
Ms. Zhou Xiaochun

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Wong Ka Sing (Appointed as company secretary on 1 March
2024 and redesignated as joint company secretary on 7 June
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Mr. Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel (Appointed as joint company

secretary on 7 June 2024)

Mr. Chan Ming Kei (Resigned as company secretary on 1 March

2024)
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AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel

Mr. Wong Ka Sing (Appointed on 1 March 2024)
Mr. Chan Ming Kei (Resigned on 1 March 2024)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
KTC Partners CPA Limited

Room 1305-07, 13/F,,

New East Ocean Centre

9 Science Museum Road,

Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANK
Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.dwhl1950.com

STOCK CODE
1950

REGISTERED OFFICE
Ogier Global (Cayman) Limited
89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay
Grand Cayman KY1-9009
Cayman Islands

Corporate Information

~E&#

RERR
MRERX T
BRE LA (R2024F3 8 1HZF)
FeR 48 EL 52 A (R20244F3 5 1 H BE(F)

B2 HEm

I FE R R EH AR A A
BEENELADBERE

REL b

HREEER D
13#81305-07%

ERERRIT
RBIRITRRDARA A
RERIT (BB ARA

NGIE N

www.dwhl1950.com

IR A3 1K 55%

1950

AR EE

Ogier Global (Cayman) Limited
89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay
Grand Cayman KY1-9009
Cayman Islands

FIREERARAR —E-EFFHR

3



Corporate Information

AR

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE

OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC
No.2, Jiangshan Road

Meicheng Town

Jiande County

Hangzhou City

Zhejiang Province

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

IN HONG KONG

1101, 11% Floor,

Gloucester Tower, The Landmark,
15 Queen’s Road Central,

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE
Ogier Global (Cayman) Limited
89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay
Grand Cayman, KY1-9009
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year” or
“Reporting Period”), the revenue of the Group was
approximately RMB566,475,000 (2023: RMB570,572,000),
representing an slight decrease of approximately RMB4,097,000
or 0.72% as compared to the year ended 31 December 2023 (the
“Prior Year”).

The gross profit of the Group for the Year was approximately
RMB257,299,000 (2023: RMB233,383,000), representing an
increase of approximately RMB23,916,000 or 10.3% as compared
to the Prior Year.

For the Year, the Group recorded net profit of approximately
RMB30,015,000 as compared to the net profit of approximately
RMB24,874,000 for the Prior Year. Profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company was approximately RMB30,030,000
(2023: RMB19,451,000).

The basic and diluted earning per share was RMB4.17 cents

(2023: basic and diluted earning per share was RMB4.11 cents.

The Board has resolved not to declare the final dividend for the
Year.

Financial Highlights
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Statement from the Board of Directors

EEEER

To all shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Diwang
Industrial Holdings Limited (the “Company”), we are pleased to
present the annual report along with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year.

China’s economy is expected to rebound in 2024, with GDP
growth projected to be around 5-6%. This recovery will be
supported by government stimulus measures, increased domestic
consumption, and a rebound in manufacturing. Following the
lifting of COVID-19 restrictions, consumer confidence is on the
rise. Retail sales are anticipated to grow as households increase
spending on services and goods, particularly in tourism and
entertainment. As we review the 2024 global economy, we see
a mix of opportunities and challenges. While growth is expected,
external factors such as geopolitical tensions and inflationary
pressures will require careful navigation.

During the year, the Group continues to strive in its businesses,
which include the research, manufacturing, and sales of coating
agents and synthetic resins (the “Faux Leather Chemicals
Business”) as well as the production and sale of Chinese liquor
products (the “Chinese Liquor Business”). Throughout the
reporting period, the domestic economy of Mainland China is
likely to see steady growth, driven by both domestic demand
and exports. However, global trade tensions and shifts in supply
chains may impact certain industries. Despite these challenges,
the Faux Leather Chemicals Business remained stable during the
year due to our increased efforts in sales and marketing activities.
Simultaneously, the Chinese Liquor Business has continued to
experience growth, with customers welcoming our Chinese baijiu
products, which seem to have sustainable demand. This business
has become a significant contributor to the Group’s revenue.

As market challenges evolve, the Company is equipped with a
diverse range of strategies to address these issues. The year 2025
presents a complex array of challenges. Our Company must be
proactive in adapting to regulatory changes, shifting consumer
preferences, and geopolitical dynamics. Those that prioritize
innovation, sustainability, and strategic flexibility will be better
positioned to thrive in this competitive landscape.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report
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Statement from the Board of Directors

The Group is experiencing energetic growth and development
across its Chinese Liquor Business. As we look to the future, it is
essential for us to pivot our focus from the traditional Faux Leather
Chemicals Business to the burgeoning Chinese liquor market,
particularly the dynamic Chinese liquor sector. This strategic shift
is driven by our recognition of the immense growth potential
with evolving consumer preferences and demand within the
domestic alcoholic beverage industry. The Chinese baijiu business
provides us with an opportunity to enter a market that is not only
rich in cultural significance but also has a continuously growing
demand, making it a focus for our business development. To
facilitate this shift of business focus, the Group will undertake
several key initiatives through constant Chinese liquor market
research and product development, seeking strategic partnerships
with e-commerce platforms to maintain sustainable growth and
elevate our brand position in the Chinese liquor industry. Also,
the Company has been actively exploring new opportunities
and possibilities, which aims to promote return to shareholders
including but not limited to various potential markets and products
involving traditional Faux Leather Chemicals. Announcement(s)
will be made on the Group’s development in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (where applicable) as and when appropriate.

APPRECIATION

Finally, we would like to express our gratitude to all employees,
shareholders, and business partners of the Group. As we look
positively toward the future, the Group will continue to seek
opportunities and create long-term value for our shareholders and
society.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year, the Group engaged in two primary business
activities: the Faux Leather Chemicals Business and the Chinese
Liquor Business.

FAUX LEATHER CHEMICALS BUSINESS

Revenue generated from the Faux Leather Chemicals Business
amounted to approximately RMB262,495,000 for the Year (2023:
RMB262,546,000), which remained stable as compared to the
Prior Year. The gross profit of this segment for the Year was
approximately RMB55,700,000 (2023: RMB55,489,000).

The gross profit margin remained stable at approximately 21.2%
for the Year comparing to approximately 21.1% for the Prior Year.

Selling and distribution expenses for the Year were approximately
RMB15,187,000 (2023: RMB12,920,000). The increase in selling
and distribution expenses was mainly due to the increase in sales
and marketing activities. Selling and distribution expenses for the
Year accounted for approximately 5.79% (2023: approximately
4.92%) of the segment revenue. Segment profit was approximately
RMB 14,270,000 (2023: RMB21,505,000).

CHINESE LIQUOR BUSINESS

The Group began manufacturing and selling of Chinese baijiu
products in the PRC with a view to exploring business opportunities
in the food and beverage business in the PRC in year 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the Year, our Chinese Liquor Business was mainly operated
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company by #& & T th 7 £ 7 2
ABR A& (Fujian Wangchidi Sauce And Wine Company Limited*)
(“Fujian Wangchidi”) established under the laws of PRC.

In operating the Chinese Liquor Business, we focus on the
development of drinking formula, design and brand-building
strategy of the baijiu products and as such, we procure all
necessary raw materials via the materials procurement services
provided by an independent wine factory in producing the Chinese
baijiu products and outsources the manufacturing process to such
independent wine factory to produce the Chinese baijiu products
via an original equipment manufacturer arrangement.

Our Chinese baijiu products comprise a comprehensive range
of aromatic-flavour baijiu products formulated by us with varied
packaging, alcohol content, design, taste, etc. with competitive
prices targeting the young to middle-aged public to middle class
consumer market in the PRC.

During the Year, the segment revenue from Chinese Liquor
Business slightly decreased for approximately RMB4,060,000 or
1.31% from approximately RMB308,026,000 for the Prior Year
to approximately RMB303,980,000 for the Year. The gross profit
was approximately RMB201,598,000 (2023: RMB177,894,000)
after accounting for the cost of raw materials and production fee.
The Company promotes and explores sales channels of its Chinese
baijiu products by (i) placing advertisements at airports, train
stations and online media platforms; and (i) hosting wine tasting
events and various wine exhibitions and wine trade fairs in the
PRC. Segment profit was approximately RMB29,669,000 (2023:
RMB23,407,000)

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to declare the final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

* English translation of the name for identification only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

TEEENWR DM

PROSPECT

Our Business Strategies and Future Prospects

The year 2024 was characterized by significant global uncertainty
stemming from the ongoing political instability between Russia
and Ukraine. This turmoil adversely affected the global economy,
influencing the trading landscape, the financial sector, and interest
rates, necessitating a period of adjustment and recovery. As a
result, we anticipate that challenges such as economic uncertainty,
market volatility, and unpredictable geopolitical tensions will persist
in their impact on the global economy throughout 2025.

In forecasting China’s economic growth for 2025, although
the trade conflicts between China and the U.S. represent a
complicating factor. Both governments are considering their
respective interests in taxation, while their economies are
interconnected and mutually influential. They face unique
challenges and competitive dynamics that shape their future
trajectories, affecting global trade as well. Nevertheless, China’s
economy is expected to rebound. The domestic economy is
anticipated to recover, supported by government stimulus
measures and increased domestic consumption, which will
benefit consumer confidence. Retail sales are expected to grow as
households increase spending on services and goods, particularly
in tourism and entertainment. In conclusion, China’s economy is
projected to grow, bolstered by government policies that support
an optimistic macroeconomic outlook for the consumption market.

Our Group is aligning further targets to increase our market share
through strategic management, planning, and the expansion
of our two core businesses, as well as establishing protective
measures from a sustainable perspective. We will continue
to enhance our overall competitiveness and market share by
improving our premium long-term relationships with existing
customers, proactively developing new customers, strengthening
our research and development capabilities, and further expanding
our product portfolio and geographical coverage.

Given an optimistic forecast of the macroeconomics in China
consumption market, the business environment is still expected
to be challenging in the future with more entrants of competitors
following by economy recovery; thus our Group is preparing to
address relevant issues and needs by stronger market campaign
in order to increase our market share. We will remain focusing on
enhancing the Faux Leather Chemicals and Chinese Liquor Business
through maintaining sustainable growth and exploring our product
varieties to wider classes of customers.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Meanwhile, the Group sees the opportunities in expansion of our
Chinese Liguor Business in coping with the expected growth in
consumption capacity. Our Group’s Chinese liquor products were
repositioned and renamed with our in-house brands “Dihuangchi’
(FE2M) and “Dilongchi” (F8E ) to effectively target specific
customer segments and replace the brand “Diwang Chi” (75 T5tb)
for the Group’s Chinese liquor products since September 2023.
From July 2024, the Group’s Chinese liquor products under the
brands “Dihuangchi” and “Dilongchi” are exclusively produced
by EMACIETF AEEZ BEAFR AT (Guizhou Province
Renhuai City Maotai Town Huaxing Wine Co., Ltd) (“Huaxing
Liquor Factory”). Additionally, from November 2024, & M &
CEMFEEKNEBEERADF (Guizhou Province Renhuai
City Maotai Town Datang Liquor Co., Ltd) (“Datang Liquor”), a
company incorporated on the People’s Republic of China, was
designated as the bottling base and responsible for producing the
Group’s alternate brand of Chinese liquor products. Datang Liquor
has developed into a comprehensive enterprise integrating Chinese
liguor production, storage, packaging, marketing, product research
and development, where Datang Liquor produces thousand
tons of high quality Maotai flavor Chinese liquor annually with
an abundant reserve of base liquor. With the expertise of our
company’s management team and Fujian Wangchidi, we can
ensure the smooth operation of the Chinese baijiu production
and facilitate effective communication and collaboration with the
outsourced Chinese Liquor processing factories. Our sales channels
are also expanding through implementation of various marketing
strategies and advertisement. The Company believes that the
Chinese Liquor Business will contribute a more significant value to
the Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

TEEENWR DM

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current assets were
approximately RMB557,411,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB548,637,000), mainly comprising cash and bank balances
(including pledged bank deposits), inventories, trade and bills
receivables, prepayments, deposits and other receivables and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The Group’s
current liabilities were approximately RMB155,653,000 (31
December 2023: RMB95,582,000). The current ratio (the ratio of
current assets to current liabilities) decreased from approximately
5.74 times as at 31 December 2023 to approximately 3.58 times
as at 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings were approximately
RMB64,500,000 (31 December 2023: RMB25,000,000) which of
which RMB49,500,000 carried at a fixed rate and RMB15,000,000
carried at a variable rate. The bank borrowings were denominated
in RMB.

* English translation of the name for identification only

Gearing ratio
The gearing ratio is the ratio of net debt divided by total
equity. Net debt is calculated as total debt net of cash and cash
equivalents. As at 31 December 2024, the Group recorded gearing
ratio at 1.01% (31 December 2023: the Group recorded a net
cash position).

Capital expenses

During the Year, the Group’s capital expenditure was
approximately RMB127,301,000, representing an increase of
RMB112,318,000 as compared to that of RMB14,983,000 in the
Prior Year. Capital expenditure relates primarily to the purchase of
plant and equipment.

Capital Commitments

The capital commitments not provided for in the consolidated
financial statements as at 31 December 2024 was RMB1,451,000
(31 December 2023: RMB1,614,000), which represented the
purchase of plant and machinery and automated transformation
contracts.

Capital structure

The number of issued ordinary shares of the Company (the
“Shares”) as at 31 December 2024 was 720,000,000 Shares (31
December 2023: 720,000,000 Shares).

The authorised share capital of the Company as at 31 December
2024 was US$5,000,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 Shares with
par value of US$0.0025 each (31 December 2023: US$5,000,000
divided into 2,000,000,000 Shares of par value of US$0.0025
each).

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report

HE2024F 128318 AEEREBEE
495 N R #557,411,0007T (2023412 A31
H: AR#548,637,0007T) * * EBIER
S RBTESH (BREEEBRITER
FE BHREBERWHIE  BIRE-
Be kEMBEWFIBRIEAF B ABEE
LERMEE AKBRHEBRONARARK
155,653,0007C (20234 12A31H : AR
95,582,0007T) * BN L X (REEEHE R
B EE) H2023F 12 A31H W 495.74(5
PRI Z=2024F 12 A31 H A #93.581F o

R2024F12A318 BITEBELHABARE
64,500,0007T (20234128318 : AR
25,000,0007T) © EH A R #49,500,0007T
1% @ 7F 7 R 5T B LA & A R #15,000,0007C
BEBFIRTE - RITEEAARBE -

EXEFELE=E
BEABELEABERFERABERDL
R BERFRINTREKRREE MRS
BYtE - PR2024F12A831H » KEE %
BERBELE1.01% (20235F12 8318 -
REBERSFREBAMMN) ©

EXRMX

REAFE AEBEARIZHAARE
127,301,000 R E—FEMARE
14,983,0007T 38 hn A R #112,318,0007T °
BEAS N ETEHEEREREERA -

BEAREIE

R2024F 12 A31H ARSI B R R 1E
BB E A FIE A ARE1,451,0007T (2023
F12A31H : AR¥1,614,0000T) © &
EMEHEZEREIEBESTEL -

BERER
R2024F12A31TB A RARIBE#HITE B
([ ]) 1B A720,000,0000% i 15 (2023
£12A318 : 720,000,0000% M 15) °

R2024F12A318 * RRBIZEERAK A
5,000,000 7T * > /A2,000,000,0000% & A%
M{B0.0025% T 2 %17 (2023912 A31H -
5,000,000 7T * > /A2,000,000,0000% & A%
M1H0.00253% T Z B 1n) °



Management Discussion and Analysis

Share Consolidation

On 5 March 2023, the Company announced a proposed share
consolidation on the basis that every five existing Shares of par
value of US$0.0005 each into one consolidated share of par value
of US$0.0025 each (the “Consolidated Share”) in the share
capital of the Company (the “Share Consolidation”) and increase
in authorised share capital of the Company (the “Increase in
Authorised Share Capital”).

Upon the Share Consolidation became effective on 30 May
2023, the authorised share capital of the Company became
US$1,000,000 divided into 400,000,000 Consolidated Shares with
par value of US$0.0025 each, of which 288,000,000 Consolidated
Shares were in issue and fully paid or credited as fully paid.
Immediately following the Share Consolidation, the authorised
share capital of the Company increased from US$1,000,000 to
US$5,000,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 Consolidated Shares by
the creation of an additional 1,600,000,000 Consolidated Shares.

Details of the Share Consolidation and the Increase in Authorised
Share Capital were set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 5 March 2023, 14 April 2023, 18 April 2023, 5 May 2023,
12 May 2023, 29 May 2023 and 30 May 2023.

Rights Issue

On 5 March 2023, the Company announced a proposed rights
issue on the basis of three rights shares (the “Rights Shares”)
for every two Shares in issue at a subscription price of HK$0.67
per Rights Share (the “Rights Issue”) to raise for approximately
HK$289,440,000 million by issuing 432,000,000 Rights Shares to
the qualifying shareholders. One valid acceptance and application
had been received for a total of 1,128,309 Rights Shares. The
Company has, pursuant to Rule 7.21(1)(b) of the Listing Rules,
made the compensatory arrangements by entering into a placing
agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) with a placing agent (the
“Placing Agent”) pursuant to which the Company conditionally
appointed the Placing Agent and the Placing Agent conditionally
agreed to act as the placing agent for the Company to procure,
on a best effort basis, placees to subscribe for the 430,871,691
untaken shares (“Untaken Shares”) in accordance with the terms
of the Placing Agreement. As all the 430,871,691 Untaken Shares
were successfully placed at the price of HK$0.67 per Share under
the placing to more than six placees.

On 28 July 2023, the Company allotted and issued 432,000,000
Rights Shares at subscription price of HK$0.67 per Rights Shares,
representing 100% of the total number of Rights Shares offered
for subscription under the Rights Issue. The subscription price of
the Rights Shares was approximately a premium of 1.52% over
the theoretical closing price of HK$0.66 per Share (after taking
into account the effect of the Share Consolidation) based on
the closing price of HK$0.132 per share as quoted on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 3
March 2023, being the last trading day). The net proceeds from
the Rights Issue (after deducting the estimated expenses) were
approximately HK$286.55 million, representing a net price of
approximately HK$0.663 per Rights Share. The analysis of the
intended use and the status of the net proceeds up to the date of
this report is as below.
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Upon completion of the Rights Issue on 28 July 2023, the number
of Shares in issue became 720,000,000 of par value US$0.0025
each thereafter.

Details of the Rights Issue were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 5 March 2023, 18 April 2023, 5 May 2023,

30 May 2023, 3 July 2023, 27 July 2023, circular dated 5 May
2023 and prospectus dated 9 June 2023.

The analysis of the intended use and the status of the net proceeds
up to the date of this report is as below.

Use of Proceeds from the Rights Issue

Intended uses BERR

HAR N 2023FE7 A28 A& - © (TR
7 & B 1% /&720,000,0000% @ & A% ®E &
0.00253 7T °

HEEFFBEHN A NG HEA2023F3 858 »
202344 H188 ~ 20234 5H5H ~ 202345
H30H -~ 2023%F7H3H - 2023567A278 2
N~ 2023F5A85H 2 K &2023F6 A9
B HIRER -

BEARRE AHMERIBFEHTE MR
MR 2 DATEI T »

MR ZAMERERE
Actual use of  Net proceeds
proceeds up unutilised as at

Intended uses to the date the date
of proceeds  of this report  of this report
HK$ HK$ HK$

Bz

FHERM  REABRERM
Fri&mE FrigmE RERAHE
REmRR BERAZ REFE

Business development of the Chinese Liquor HBEEBNEBEE:

Business:

- Setting up four ancient-Chinese-style bistros in -~ —7£ A B B ;R 70 s 7 B B/ B 63
the PRC

— Working capital in operating four bistros upon ~ —PUfE f Bl NE SRR 1 2 &
their opening BED

~ Launching sizeable advertising campaigns across —7£ 1 EI At fIE AR E &
different districts in the PRC EEED

- Payment of manufacturing cost to the wine  —REBITRI FEERAE B
factory including a) cost of raw materials; FaEMEKA  DINITER K
b) processing fee and ¢) packaging fee OBRER

Business development of the Faux Leather AIECEREBNEBER:
Chemicals Business:

— Repayment of bank borrowings —-BERTEE

~ Investment in automation system -REBBLERS

— Addition of production facilities —EEERR

~ Improvement in product quality -RAEREE

— Procurement of raw materials —RBRMH
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20,000,000 20,000,000 -

8,550,000 8,550,000 -

100,000,000 100,000,000 -

100,000,000 100,000,000 -

11,500,000 11,500,000 -
11,000,000 11,000,000 -
17,000,000 17,000,000 -

3,500,000 3,500,000 -
15,000,000 15,000,000 -

286,550,000 286,550,000 -




Management Discussion and Analysis

As at the date of this report, all the net proceeds from the Rights
Issue have been used in the same manner and proportions as set
out in the section headed “Reasons for the Rights Issue, the Placing
and the Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated
9 June 2023.

Share Scheme

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 10 February
2020 pursuant to which the total number of Shares in respect of
which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall not exceed 100,000,000 Shares. Following the effect of the
Share Consolidation on 30 May 2023, the options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 20,000,000
Shares.

The scheme mandate limit had not been refreshed and no options
were granted since the date of adoption of the Share Option
Scheme.

INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had invested in the
shares of companies listed on the Stock Exchange with a total
carrying amount of approximately RMB5,972,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$6,449,000) (31 December 2023: RMB9,522,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$10,508,000)). The Board
considers any single investment with fair value accounting for
more than 5% of the total assets of the Group as a significant
investment. As the Group did not have any single investment
accounting for 5% or more of the total assets of the Group as
at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant
investments as at 31 December 2024.
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The portfolio of equity investments as at 31 December 2024 are
set out as follows.

Unrealised fair

Fair value of the
investment in
listed securities

R2024F 12 A3TBNRERERE T ¢

Percentage of
fair value of the
investment in
listed securities/
total assets of

value loss as at asat the Group as at
Investment 31 December 31 December 31 December
cost 2024 2024 2024
H20245%
120245 20245 128318 L™
12A31H 12A31A2 HBHERELQT
ZRBE LMEHREZ EEEEE
REBE ATEEBR AYE HEEFIH

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARET AREFT

Financial assets at fair value through A FEFABEZ

profit or loss TREE 10,026 (4,054) 5,972 0.72%

During the Reporting Period, details of the performance of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2024 are as follows:

RIREER - B E2024FE 12318 ILFEE
BRAFEAABZZEMEEZRAFEB
s

Realised fair  Unrealised fair
value (loss)/ value gain/ Dividend
gain for  (loss) for the received during
the year ended year ended the year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2024 2024
HZ20F 22025
12A3NBLFEE 12A31BLEE BZ2024512A
ZBRRANTE ZABRAVE 3MBLFERR
Description of investments REMR (B8 W#E Wi/ (FR) ZKRE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETT ARBTT
Listed securities in Hong Kong BB LMESR (1,018) (969) -

In view of the recent volatility in the securities market, the Directors
expect the stock market will remain volatile in the coming year and
the Group will continue to adopt the cautious approach in making
investment decision in securities trading so as to obtain a balance
between risk and return.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any significant
investments, material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associates, joint ventures and capital assets during the year ended
31 December 2024.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, we did not record any material hire
purchase commitments, contingent liabilities, guarantees or
litigations against us.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK AND MANAGEMENT
The Group’s sales and purchases are mainly denominated in RMB.
The Group retains some of its foreign currency denominated funds,
which are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Fluctuations
in exchange rates have an impact on the foreign currency reserve
and the Company is exploring and discussing measures to cope
with the foreign exchange risk. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group did not enter into any financial instruments to hedge
foreign exchange.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 217 (2023:
208) employees. The Group offers its employees competitive
remuneration packages based on industry practices and
performance of individual employees. Year-end discretionary
bonuses may be granted to reward and motivate those well-
performed employees.

The Group provides employee benefits in accordance with the
relevant laws and regulations. As required by the PRC laws and
regulations, the Group participates in various employee social
security plans for our employees that are administered by local
governments, including housing, pension, medical insurance,
maternity insurance and unemployment insurance. The Group
believes that it maintains a good working relationship with its
employees. The employees in Hong Kong are members of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme of Hong Kong.
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EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING PERIOD
The disposal at 25% of the issued share capital of
Darkblue Investment Ltd. (the “Disposal”)

On 27 December 2024, the Company (the “Vendor”), entered
into a Sale and Purchase Agreement with BlueOcean Investment
(Global) Ltd (the “Purchaser”), an Independent Third Party,
agreeing to sell 25% of the issued share capital of Darkblue
Investment Ltd. (the “Target Company”) for a consideration of
RMB20,840,000, payable in cash installments (the “Disposal”).
Currently, the Vendor wholly owns the Target Company, but
upon completion of the transaction, ownership will be divided,
with the Vendor holding 75% and the Purchaser holding 25%
(the “Completion”). The transaction will be completed by 31
May 2025. Following the Completion, the Target Company will
continue to be a subsidiary of the Company, and its financial
results will remain consolidated with the Group. The Disposal is
expected to be treated as an equity transaction, meaning it will
not result in any gain or loss recognized in the Company’s profit or
loss, as the Group will maintain control over the Target Company.
As the highest percentage ratio (calculated in accordance with
Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in respect of the Disposal exceeds
5% but is less than 25%, the Disposal constitutes a discloseable
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules
and is subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
but is exempt from the shareholders’ approval requirement
thereunder.

Details of the Disposal were set out in the announcement dated
27 December 2024.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Hua (BRE %), aged 51, is an executive Director,
also an executive director and general manager of Zhejiang
Sunlight. Mr. Chen is responsible for overseeing our day-to-
day management and business operation, formulating business
strategies and making major operational decisions of our Group.

Mr. Chen was awarded a bachelor’s degree in mechanical
engineering from Zhejiang University GH1VT X2 ) of the PRC. He
was awarded the qualification of senior economist* (7= 4% 4% 5 R )
by the Zhejiang Province Economic Series Advanced Professional
Technical Positions Employment Qualification Review Committee*
MIARBRIGREXERMBEERERTEELZES)
in December 2018. Mr. Chen has been engaged in the chemical
engineering industry for more than 20 years. From January 2000 to
May 2006, Mr. Chen was employed by Hangzhou Rainbow Colour
Paste Co., Ltd.* (UM AL BHFHER A ), a manufacturer of
colourants, resins, finishes and additives for synthetic leather and
textiles, as a general manager. Mr. Chen joined Zhejiang Sunlight
in July 2006 and took up positions as a director and the general
manager. Mr. Chen was also the general manager of Huzhou
Milan Investment Management Co., Ltd.* CHINKE & & E
2 H R 2~ a]) (formerly known as Hangzhou Sunlight Chemical
Co., Ltd.* (MM RE(ALTHRAF)) (“Huzhou Milan”), a then
manufacturer of chemical products, from January 2005 to July
2006, responsible for its overall management and formulation of
business strategies, and was its supervisor from November 2007 to
July 2010, respectively.
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Mr. Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel (# 8 3t) , aged 32, was
appointed as executive Director on 25 May 2022 and was
appointed as a joint company secretary on 7 June 2024. Mr. Lam
obtained a Master’s degree of Corporate Governance from Saint
Francis University and a Bachelor’s degree of Commerce (Finance
and Marketing) from University of Auckland, New Zealand. He has
extensive experience in equity capital market especially in securities
brokerage operations, securities financing, and equity dealings
with other financial institutions. Mr. Lam has worked in several
securities’ brokerage firms in Hong Kong from 2016 to early 2022
and as a licensed representative for Type 1 (Dealing in securities)
regulated activity under the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”). From
March 2023 to February 2025, Mr. Lam has acted as a licensed
representative for Type 9 (Asset management) regulated activities
under the SFO of VC International Asset Management Limited
(Formerly known as Anli Asset Management Limited).

Mr. Lam is an Associate Member of CPA (Australia). He is also a
Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and an
Associate of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as “The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries”) and The Chartered Governance Institute.

Mr. Cheung Ka Wai (R R{&) , aged 49, was appointed as
executive Director on 31 July 2024. Mr. Cheung obtained
his Advanced Diploma in Business Administration from Hong
Kong Baptist University (School of Continuing Education) and
Bachelor’s degree of Arts (Honors) in Business Administration and
Management from United Kingdom De Montfort University. He
also received his Advanced Diploma in Accounting from Hong
Kong University (School of Professional and Continuing Education)
in 2023. He has extensive experience in leadership, strategic
planning and customer service skills in the retail industry. He
has over 20 years of professional experience in the vehicle parts
retailing sector. He served as a Senior Counter Sales at Lion Motors
Ltd from March 1995 to September 2003, and was employed as
Administrative Manager at James-Lien (Motor Spare Parts) Centre
Ltd since January 2004 till February 2025, where his responsibilities
include managing the sales team, developing sales strategies,
handling cost accounting and management accounts, organizing
the supplier network, and maintaining public relation.
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Mr. Sun Jingang (€ Rl), aged 58, was appointed as executive
Director on 25 May 2022. The operation of the Chinese Liquor
Business is currently managed by a management team led by
Mr. Sun. The composition of the management team consists
of experience professionals in sales and market, business
management, operation and management of production plant and
alcohol-related research and technology, quality management and
wine tasting. Mr. Sun has over 10 years in company promotion
and company brand planning. From January 2010 to December
2018, Mr. Sun was the general manager of Weishan Qiandao
Lake Wetland Scenic Spot* (ff{ 1L F & # 2 5 [&) and was
mainly responsible for the development of the scenic spot. Mr. Sun
is currently the general manager of Jiangsu Huazhikang Health
Technology Group Co., Ltd.* (L& 2 BREERHE S BERAA])
and Jiangsu Hengyangkang Health Technology Co., Ltd.* T #k/&
= FfEFERH AR A A]) since November 2019 and since February
2021 respectively. From April 2021 to 23 May 2022, Mr. Sun was
the director of Xuzhou Yuandao Health Technology Co., Ltd.* (#&
MITBRERHRBRAF).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Au Hei Ching (Ef&¥5E4), aged 40, was appointed as
independent non-executive Director on 25 January 2022. Mr. Au
obtained a degree of Executive Master of Business Administration
from SABI University and a degree of Bachelor of Business
Administration in Business Economics from the City University of
Hong Kong and has over 16 years of experience in securities and
asset management. Mr. Au has been a Financial Risk Manager
(FRM) of the Global Association of Risk Professionals since 2011.
From October 2007 to August 2010, Mr. Au worked as principal
business development officer at a bank in Hong Kong. Since
October 2010, Mr. Au has worked as SFC licensed representative
and responsible officer in various licensed corporations. He
has extensive experience in asset management, external asset
management, advising on investment and risk management
strategies, supervising daily business operations and providing
advisory services to investors.

* For identification purpose only
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Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace (Z# 1% % %), aged 43, was
appointed as independent non-executive Director on 25 January
2022. He obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce (Accounting)
from the University of Queensland, Australia and has over 20 years
of experience in financial reporting, investment analysis, merger
& acquisition exercises and business development. He has been
a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since 2009 and a fellow member since 2014. From November
2017 to June 2020, he was an independent non-executive director
of Chuan Holdings Limited (stock code: 1420), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From
February 2020 to December 2022, he was an independent non-
executive director of Asia Television Holdings Limited (stock code:
707), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. From September 2020 to April 2023, he was
an independent non-executive director of Kirin Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8109), the shares of which were delisted from
the GEM of the Stock Exchange in April 2023. From January 2021
to November 2023, he was an independent non-executive director
of Kafelaku Coffee Holding Limited (formerly known as Li Bao Ge
Group Limited) (stock code: 1869), the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From September 2017
to February 2024, he was an independent non-executive director
of Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited (stock code: 1188), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From
February 2024 to April 2024, he was a joint company secretary
of Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited (stock code: 1188), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Huang Zhenming (BE#RBA &%), aged 56, was appointed
as independent non-executive Director on 24 January 2024. He
obtained a Bachelor of civil engineering from the Department
of Civil Engineering of Guangxi University in 1990 and has over
33 years of experience in corporate investment and business
development. From 1999 to 2007, he served as Chairman of
Chengdu Sanhuan Investment Company (X &8 =R & 2 Al) .
From 2008 to 2012, he was the general manager of Chongging
Dazu Creative Industry Investment Development Co., Ltd (EEE X
TEIEEZELEREAFRAT]). From 2014 to 2022, he served
as President of Shanghai Ou Zhuoya Enterprise Development Group
Co., Ld( LR =R RER (£E)BRAR). Mr. Huang is
currently the president of Shanghai Yulin Chamber of Commerce
(EBTWEMBEE), executive president of Shanghai Guangxi
Chamber of Commerce (E/8MEEEE), vice president of
Guangxi Yulin Overseas Friendship Association (& 78 & #A 1 )&
SNEREEE ), vice chairman of Yulin City Federation of Industry
and Commerce (£ TEHE:), and member of the Yulin City
Yuzhou District CPPCC (EMM EM@BIREE).
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Ms. Zhou Xiaochun (A& & Z £), aged 67, was appointed
as independent non-executive Director on 25 January 2022. She
has over 42 years of experience in alcohol-related research and
technology, product and quality management. Since 1980, Ms.
Zhou has been engaged in wine-related professional technology
work at Jiangxi Jinggang Winery Industry Co., Ltd.* (T 783
BEBRETAT), where she currently holds the position of
chief engineer. Ms. Zhou was accredited as a senior engineer in
the field of chemistry by the Jiangxi Occupational Titles Reform
Work Leading Group* L Fa4& BB FEEE /N4 ) in November
2000. In March 2012, she obtained the Occupational Qualification
Certificate in wine tasting. From November 2016 to November
2021, Ms. Zhou was a panelist of the 9th National Baijiu Spirit
Panel of the China National Food Industry Association. She was
also a national occupational skills appraisal senior examiner for
winemakers and sommeliers between October 2018 and October
2021. In September 2020, Ms. Zhou was appointed as the team
leader of the Jiangxi Province 12th Chinese Baijiu Expert Panel*
(IfAEE T+ Z/EHBEZXRMA) by the Jiangxi Food Industry
Association.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES OF THE

COMPANY

Mr. Wong Ka Sing, aged 37, appointed as the Company
Secretary of the Company with effective from 1 March 2024.
Obtained a degree of Master in Finance from University of Hong
Kong and a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration in
Accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. He is currently
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and is also a licensed person registered under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) to carry out Type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) regulated activity.

He has extensive experience in the areas of accounting, auditing
and corporate finance. Mr. Wong is currently the executive director
and the responsible officer of First Global Corporate Finance Co.,
Limited, a licensed corporation registered under the SFO to carry
out Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activity, since
August 2023 and the company secretary of King International
Investment Limited (stock code: 928) and China Frontier
Technology Group (stock code: 1661).

* For identification purpose only
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The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Reporting Period. Certain information set out in this annual report
are disclosed up to the date of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities and other details of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements. Pursuant to the requirements of Schedule 5 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(the “Companies Ordinance”), further discussion and analysis
of the principal activities of the Group (including the business
review of the Group and the description of the potential business
development of the Group) are set out in the management
discussion and analysis of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 17 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Business Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s principal business activity is the manufacturing
and sales of faux leather chemicals and Chinese liquor, whose
principal risks include the quality of the products and the security
during production. The Group has taken comprehensive measures
to ensure that both quality and security will meet the industry
standards. The fluctuation of the development of the industry has
resulted in a significant impact on the Group’s business in the
Reporting Period. Please refer to the Statement from the Board of
Directors for further discussion on the business risks we face and
how we manage such risks.

Financial Risks

The Group’s main risks arising from its financial instruments are
interest rate and exchange rate risks, equity price risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk. Details of the financial risk management
objectives and policies are set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Tax concession

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding the
securities of the Company.
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Environmental policies and performance
The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of the
environment and the development of the society.

Details of the Group’s development, performance and operation in
the environmental aspect are set out in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group has adopted internal control and risk management
policies to monitor the on-going compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations. As far as the Board is concerned, the Group
had complied in all material aspects with the applicable laws and
regulations in the PRC, and did not have any incidents of material
non-compliance, and the Group had obtained all relevant permits,
approval documents, qualifications, authorizations and approvals
material to our business operations.

Overall compliance

As at the date of this annual report, save as disclosed above, there
are no material pending or threatened litigation matters or other
proceedings involving the Group, and the Group is not involved
in any litigation or other proceedings that we believe would
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or
results of operation.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group’s top five customers accounted for approximately
33.7% (2023: approximately 34.5%) of the total sales and the
top five suppliers accounted for approximately 38.8% (2023:
approximately 53.7%) of its total purchases for Reporting
Period. In addition, the Group’s largest customer accounted for
approximately 7.97% (2023: approximately 7.74%) of the total
sales and the Group’s largest supplier accounted for approximately
19.43% (2023: approximately 42.4%) of the total purchases for
Reporting Period.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, at no time during the
Reporting Period, have the Directors, their associates or any
shareholders of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the share capital of the Company)
had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group is in good relationship with its employees and also
has policies in place to ensure competitive remuneration, well-
developed welfare package and continuous professional training
for its employees. The Group also maintains a good relationship
with its customers and suppliers, without whom its production and
operation may be impaired.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
Details of the movements in the Company’s reserves during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had distributable
reserves amounting to RMB344,227,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB351,247,000).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Donation for charitable purposes of approximately RMB411,000
were made by the Group during the Reporting Period (31
December 2023: RMB515,000).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the events after the Reporting Period of the Group are
set out in the paragraph headed “Event After the Reporting Period”
in this annual report and note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial periods is set out on page 168 of
this Annual Report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Reporting Period.
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Pre-emptive right

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company
’s articles of association (the “Articles of Association”) or the
laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated.

DIVIDENDS AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has resolved not to declare the final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024. Policy on payment of dividend of
the Company is in place setting out the factors in determination
of dividend payment of the Company, including the Group’s
actual and expected financial performance, shareholders’ interests,
retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the other members of the Group, the level of the Group’s
debts to equity ratio, return on equity and financial covenants
to which the Group is subject, possible effects on the Group’s
creditworthiness, any restrictions on payment of dividends that
may be imposed by the Group’s lenders, the Group expected
working capital requirements and future expansion plans, liquidity
position and future commitments at the time of declaration
of dividend, taxation considerations, statutory and regulatory
restrictions, general business conditions and strategies, general
economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business and
other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Company;
and other factors that the Board deems appropriate. The policy
shall be reviewed periodically and submitted to the Board for
approval if amendments are required.

Directors’ service contracts

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing
from the listing date of the Shares on 12 March 2020 (the “Listing
Date”) or his/her respective date of appointment which was later
than the Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other
and is subject to termination provisions therein and provisions on
retirement by rotation of the Directors as set out in the Articles of
Association.

Directors’ Report

EEEHE

BrREER

ARBABERMAR ((AEERMAR ) =X
MERS BIRXRREMKIZAERDEE
BE)ERTEARBELBERMNGI -

BRERRKREBER
BEEgERETHE £2024F12A8318 1k
FETSRAMBKE - RREIEEMIRNMK
BHE  EFHIEEARFKREIRMSH
A& BEASEERRFEHMBEERIE -
EER AR A RAEEEMEKER
AMRBRAFMEAIHSIRFEE AEB 2
BERELE BRALBRE - U KiEINR
REBAPERHIFTEZKFE HAEE
EEVEBEVE AKENERATRERE
MEEMAR ER RS - AEBE 2 TBEHE
BESFEREARKERTE TR SR
HBESRRA KRR EHBBR  RHB
EREAR EATMEERH - BEEKIK
TRR S  BEBLOEARN C AEBEEKH
BERE  ARATREH AR A EB LK
KRR B ENE AT INTE X
NEEERABENEMAZ -BKET
TEHHER  WAELEBKRE EBIRETE
Eefbk -

BEERKEEY
EHITESCHBARNFTLRBEL )
S H B R2020F3 8128 i B HA
(TEHEB)DXFESECEETREER
TR RASE=F TREIMN—HARSB
—HEETORIEANEEmBMKIL I
BAXERPRAHL G R BEERAFT
HEMESHERTAGEFTRR -

FIREERARAR —E-EFFHR

27



28

E—

Directors’ Report

EEERE

Remuneration of Directors and senior management

Each of our executive Directors is entitled to a director’s fee.
Each of our executive Directors shall be paid a remuneration on
the basis of twelve months in a year. In addition, each of our
executive Directors is also entitled to bonus as determined by the
Board based on the recommendations made by our Remuneration
Committee. The current annual director’s fees and remuneration of
our executive Directors are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Each of our independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with our Company for an initial term of
three years commencing from the Listing Date or for an initial term
of one year if his/her respective date of appointment was later than
the Listing Date and is entitled to a director’s fee of HK$120,000
per annum.

In the year ended 2024, each of the executive Directors did not
receive a director’s fee.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (AND THEIR
CONNECTED ENTITIES) IN MATERIAL
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries was
a party, and in which a Director or an entity connected with a
Director had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual
report, none of the Directors or their respective close associates
as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) has any interest in any
business which competes, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which had been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions in which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded
in the register required to be maintained pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, are set out as follows:
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Notes:

(1) Asat 31 December 2024, Sunlight Global Investment Limited (“Sunlight
Global”) and Lilian Global Investment Limited (“Lilian Global”) held
approximately 0.50% and approximately 0.33%, respectively, of the
total issued share capital of the Company. Sunlight Global is owned as
t0 61.20% by Mr. Chen Hua, 13.24% by Ms. Zhu Jiangin, 13.24% by
Mr. Li Xiangyu, 9.24% by Mr. He Zhangcai, 2.14% by Mr. Chen Yong,
0.54% by Mr. Cai Jianming and 0.40% by Mr. Zhao Xuesheng. Lilian
Global is wholly-owned by Ms. Liu Jing. Ms. Liu is therefore deemed
to be interested in the Shares in which Lilian Global is interested under
the SFO. Mr. Chen Hua, Ms. Liu Jing, Ms. Zhu liangin, Mr. Li Xiangyu,
Mr. He Zhangcai, Mr. Zhao Xuesheng, Mr. Cai Jianming and Mr. Chen
Yong are entitled to exercise or control the exercise of approximately
0.83% of the voting power at general meetings of our Company
through exercising or controlling the exercise of the entire voting power
at general meetings of Sunlight Global and Lilian Global, and therefore
they are deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Sunlight Global
and Lilian Global are interested under the SFO.

(2)  Mr. Chen Hua and Ms. Liu Jing are spouses to each other. Therefore,
each of them is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which he or
she is interested under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
in which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be
maintained pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
Reporting Period was the Company or its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors
or their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any
right to subscribe for the share capital or debt securities of the
Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised any such
right.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

To the knowledge of the Directors of the Company, as at 31
December 2024, the following persons (other than the Directors
and chief executive of the Company) have the following interests
and short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which were required to be notified to the Company
pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
required pursuant to section 336 of the SFO to be entered in the
register referred to therein.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, to the
knowledge of the Directors, none of any other person (other
than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had any
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which were required to be disclosed pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or to be recorded in the
register referred to in section 336 of the SFO.

S}

Br PR ER & SN - FR2024F12H31H ¢
MEBEMA BECMEMAL(EERAK
NERESITHABRIN RAR B WG
SEBERNDPHERBEZFSRPEKRIE
XVER 2R 3N E A THTE  HBAERLR
BA N EE M F3360 ATt B & 2 M A
SRR ©

FIREERARAR —E-EFFHR

31



32

Directors’ Report

EEERE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Purpose

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions the
Eligible Participants (as defined below) had or may have made
to our Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible
Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in our
Company with the view to achieving the following objectives: (i)
motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their performance
efficiency for the benefit of our Group; (ii) attract and retain or
otherwise maintain on-going business relationship with the Eligible
Participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long term growth of our Group; and (jii) for such purposes as our
Board may approve from time to time.

Who may join

Our Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to
subscribe for such number of new Shares as our Board may
determine at an exercise price determined in accordance with
paragraph headed “Subscription price” below to the following
(the “Eligible Participants”):

(i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers of
our Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(i) any directors (including executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive directors) of our Company or any
of its subsidiaries; and

(i) any advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers, agents and
related entities to our Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and under any other
share option schemes of our Company must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue immediately
following completion of the Global Offering, being 20,000,000
Shares, excluding for this purpose Shares which would have been
issuable pursuant to the options which have lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme (or any other share
option schemes of our Company). Subject to the issue of a circular
by our Company and the approval of our Shareholders in general
meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed under the
Listing Rules from time to time, our Board may:

(i) renew this limit at any time to 10% of the Shares in issue as
of the date of the approval by our Shareholders in general
meeting; and/or

(i) grant options beyond the 10% limit to Eligible Participants
specifically identified by our Board. The circular issued by
our Company to our Shareholders shall contain a generic
description of the specified Eligible Participants who may be
granted such options, the number and terms of the options
to be granted, the purpose of granting options to the
specified Eligible Participants with an explanation as to how
the options serve such purpose, the information required
under Rule 17.02(2)(d) and the disclaimer required under
Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of our Company at any time shall not exceed
30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. No options shall be
granted under any schemes of our Company (including the Share
Option Scheme) if this will result in the 30% limit being exceeded.
The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may
be granted shall be adjusted, in such manner as the auditors of
our Company or an approved independent financial adviser shall
certify to be appropriate, fair and reasonable in the event of any
alteration in the capital structure of our Company in accordance
with paragraph (q) below whether by way of consolidation,
capitalisation issue, rights issue, sub-division or reduction of the
share capital of our Company but in no event shall exceed the limit
prescribed in this paragraph.
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Maximum number of options for each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Company
(including both exercised and outstanding options) to each Eligible
Participant in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue as of the date of grant. Any
further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject

to:

(i)

(ii)

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

the issue of a circular by our Company containing the
identity of the Eligible Participant, the numbers of and terms
of the options to be granted (and options previously granted
to such participant) the information as required under Rules
17.03(4) and 17.06 of the Listing Rules and/or such other
requirements as prescribed under the Listing Rules from time
to time; and

the approval of our Shareholders in general meeting and/
or other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules
from time to time with such Eligible Participant and his close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) (or his associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) if the Eligible Participant is
a Connected Person) abstaining from voting. The numbers
and terms (including the exercise price) of options to be
granted to such participant must be fixed before our
Shareholders’ approval and the date of our Board meeting
at which our Board proposes to grant the options to such
Eligible Participant shall be taken as the date of grant for the
purpose of calculating the subscription price of the Shares.
Our Board shall forward to such Eligible Participant an offer
document in such form as our Board may from time to time
determine.
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Grant of options to connected persons

Any grant of options to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of our Company or
any of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
is required to be approved by the independent non-executive
Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director
who is the grantee of the options). If our Board proposes to
grant options to a substantial shareholder or any independent
nonexecutive Director or their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) which will result in the number of Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of options granted and to be
granted (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant:

() representing in aggregate over 0.1% or such other
percentage as may be from time to time provided under the
Listing Rules of the Shares in issue;

(i) having an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million or such
other sum as may be from time to time provided under the
Listing Rules, based on the official closing price of the Shares
at the date of each grant, such further grant of options will
be subject to the issue of a circular by our Company and the
approval of our Shareholders in general meeting on a poll at
which the grantee, his/her associates and all core connected
persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) of our Company
shall abstain from voting in favour, and/or such other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to
time. Any vote taken at the meeting to approve the grant of
such options shall be taken as a poll.

The circular to be issued by our Company to our Shareholders
pursuant to the above paragraph shall contain the following
information:

(i) the details of the number and terms (including the exercise
price) of the options to be granted to each selected Eligible
Participant which must be fixed before our Shareholders’
meeting and the date of Board meeting for proposing such
further grant shall be taken as the date of grant for the
purpose of calculating the exercise price of such options;
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(i) a recommendation from the independent non-executive
Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director
who is the grantee of the options) to the independent
shareholders as to voting;

(i)  the information required under Rule 17.02(2)(c) and (d) and
the disclaimer required under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing
Rules; and

(iv)  the information required under Rule 2.17 of the Listing Rules.

Performance targets and vesting conditions

A grantee may be required to achieve any performance targets
as our Board may then specify in the grant before any options
granted under the Share Option Scheme can be exercised.

Subscription price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as
our Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such
price will not be less than the highest of:

(i)  the official closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of grant,
which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open
for the business of dealing in securities;

(i) the average of the official closing prices of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and

(i) the nominal value of a Share.

Term of the Share Option Scheme

An option is personal to the grantee and may be exercised or
treated as exercised, as the case may be, in whole or in part. No
grantee shall in any way sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber
or create any interest (legal or beneficial) in favour of any third
party over or in relation to any option or attempt so to do (save
that the grantee may nominate a nominee in whose name the
Shares issued pursuant to the Share Option Scheme may be
registered). Any breach of the foregoing shall entitle our Company
to cancel any outstanding options or any part thereof granted to
such grantee.
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Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00
to our Company by way of consideration for the grant. Any offer
to grant an option to subscribe for Shares may be accepted in
respect of less than the number of Shares for which it is offered
provided that it is accepted in respect of a board lot of dealing
in Shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple thereof
and such number is clearly stated in the duplicate offer document
constituting the acceptance of the option. To the extent that
the offer to grant an option is not accepted by any prescribed
acceptance date, it shall be deemed to have been irrevocably
declined.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time after the date upon which the
Option is deemed to be granted and accepted and prior to the
expiry of 10 years from that date. The period during which an
option may be exercised will be determined by our Board in its
absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised more
than 10 years after it has been granted. No option may be granted
more than 10 years after the Listing Date. Subject to earlier
termination by our Company in general meeting or by our Board,
the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years from the Listing Date.

No share option has been granted by our Company and no share
options were outstanding, lapsed, cancelled or exercised under the
share option scheme during the Reporting Period.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Certain related party transactions disclosed in note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements constitute connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined in the
Listing Rules) calculated with reference to the annual caps of the
accumulative transaction amount (the “Annual Caps”) under
the agreement dated 22 October 2024 entered into between
Zhejiang Sunlight and Hangzhou Sunlight in relation to the sale
of the products for a term of three years from 1 January 2024 to
31 December 2026 (the “Sale Agreement”) are less than 25%
and the highest Annual Caps is less than HK$10,000,000 but
more than HK$3,000,000, the transactions contemplated under
the Sale Agreement are subject to the announcement, reporting
and annual review requirements but exempt from Shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
Company has confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for these
transactions.

During the year, the Company entered into to one connected
transaction. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 22 October 2024.
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RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME
Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

Annual contributions to retirement benefit schemes operated by
the government in the PRC are recognised in the profit or loss as
and when incurred.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high level of corporate
governance practices. Information about the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report in this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Company was not aware of any
non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on it.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float as required by the Listing Rules
and at least 25% of the Company’s entire issued share capital
were held by the public from the Listing Date and up to the date
of this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

The Company has not entered into any contract with any
individual, firm or body corporate to manage or administer the
whole or any substantial part of any business of the Company
during the year under review.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Company these annual results and the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management, internal control and financial statements matters,
including the review of the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

AUDITOR

Following the resignation of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
(“HLB”) with effect from 15 December 2022 after taking into
account as the Company and HLB could not reach a consensus on
the fees for the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the financial year ending 31 December 2022, KTC
Partners CPA Limited (“KTC”) has been appointed as the auditor
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022, for the
year ended 31 December 2023 and for the current year ended
31 December 2024. KTC has audited the accompanying financial
statements which were prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

KTC holds office until the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company. KTC is subject to retirement and, being
eligible, offers itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.
A resolution for re-appointment of KTC Partners CPA Limited as
auditor will be proposed at the AGM.

By Order of the Board
Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the code provisions as set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as its own corporate
governance code. The Company is committed to the establishment
of good corporate governance practices and procedures with
a view to becoming a transparent and responsible organisation
which is open and accountable to the Shareholders. The Board
strives for adhering to the principles of corporate governance and
has adopted sound corporate governance practices to meet the
legal and commercial standards, focusing on areas such as internal
control, fair disclosure and accountability to all Shareholders to
ensure the transparency and accountability of all operations of the
Group. The Company believes that effective corporate governance
is essential for creating greater value to its Shareholders. The Board
will continue to review and improve the corporate governance
practices of the Group from time to time to ensure that the
Group is led by an effective Board in order to optimise return for
Shareholders.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the
Group has strictly complied with the CG Code with the exception
of the following deviations:

1. Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of the chairman and chief executive should be separate.
Code Provisions C.2.2 to C.2.9 further stipulate the various
roles and responsibilities of the chairman. The Company’s
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) Ms. Liu Jing
resigned with effect from 25 May 2022. No replacement
appointment of the Chairman was made after Ms. Liu Jing’s
resignation and the Company has not had a Chairman since
25 May 2022. The Company will publish an announcement
once an appointment has been made in accordance with the
Listing Rules.

2. Code Provision C.6.3 of the CG Code stipulates that the
company secretary should report to the board chairman
and/or the chief executive. As the Company did not have a
Chairman or chief executive following the resignation of Ms.
Liu Jing, the joint company secretaries or company secretary
of the Company have reported to the executive Directors
since 25 May 2022.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report

TERER
ARBEHRMBERrERF EWHRAD (L
R MECIFE B AT ([h2
R FETRIGXERA S 2B
EERTR - RRARBNOREILRIFH B
FERERKIER UKABEHAMEBEE
A MERAREHEAE -EFE
BTEEERRA HEXRBARENER
EREH AR ZAELEMEER BT
MEREIE AP RBEMYE2RBREES
R NERANEBERAEEELTHNENR
EREEMN ARARR BUNEEE
AERBERAEESEBENBETE B
BERROE EFSHEE T RRE R
HEREBNEREATR  UERAE
ERSRNEESHERE -

%

REHREEARE B Y A EE&S
B RERTH ML TREERRI -

Fik

—_

EEESTAZ SFRNEXEC 2. 116K
EEXEARESITHRABZBEREMN
25 o SFRMEXEC226E%C.2.9
BE—PHRETER2SEBRERE
F-ARAEREGER ((XF)) 2EHF
Z+E B20229F5 8258 #E BT - 2
Bt BRARRTEZRTEREZ
BRAE AR AKRRFH2022954
5RBWEERE - ARFRHERIELE
BRI EBE ETARRTIBASL -

2. DEERTRZSFRIMEXEC63KE
MEARMERMEETEHER K
BRETBRABRE - ARBEEF L
BEBAQRTEEFESIEITERA

B ARBIZHFE AR MER QAW

EH2022F5A25B BB RMMITES

HE -

o



Corporate Governance Report

3. Code Provision F.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the
chairman should attend the annual general meeting and
should also invite the chairmen of the audit, remuneration,
nomination and any other committees (as appropriate) to
attend. In their absence, the chairman should invite another
member of the committee or failing this their duly appointed
delegate, to attend. These persons should be available to
answer questions at the annual general meeting. Since the
company does not have a Chairman, Mr. Lam Kam Kong
Nathaniel, an executive Director, took the chair of the annual
general meeting held on 31 May 2024. Mr. Lee Cheung
Yuet Hoarce, who was the chairman of the nomination
committee, the remuneration committee and the audit
committee of the Company, attended the meeting and
were available to answer any questions and ensure effective
communication with the Shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code contained in Appendix
C3 as the required standard for securities transactions by the
Directors. Saved as our Independent Non-executive Director, Mr.
Huang Zhenming (“Mr. Huang”) failed to inform the Company
about his dealing and disclose his equity interest in the Company,
despite the Company has made specific enquiries of all Directors
and all Directors confirmed that during the year ended 31
December 2024, they had complied with the required standards
set out in the Model Code and the code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions during the Reporting Period.

Regarding Mr. Huang’s failure to disclose his equity interest, the
Company has sought for legal advice and issued a notification
letter to Mr. Huang for breaching the Model Code. The Company
has also arranged a director’s training session on Model Code for
Mr. Huang and advised a prompt disclosure of his equity position.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group,
which includes establish the purpose, values and strategy of the
Company, establish leadership and control of the Company and
oversee the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions, internal control,
risk management and performances. The directors take decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company. Some functions
including, inter alia, monitor and approval of material transactions,
matters involving conflict of interest for a substantial shareholder
or director(s) of the Company, the approval of the interim and
annual results, other disclosures to the public or regulators and the
internal control system are reserved by the Board and the decisions
relating to such matters shall be subject to the decision of the
Board. Matters not specifically reserved to the Board and necessary
for the daily operations of the Company are delegated to the
management under the supervision of the respective Directors.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of eight
Directors, being four executive Directors and four independent
non-executive Directors. The Directors as at the date of this annual
report and the Directors who have served the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out as below.

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Hua

Mr. Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel

Mr. Sun Jingang

Mr. Cheung Ka Wai (Appointed on 31 July 2024)
Mr. Tse Chun Chung (Resigned on 31 July 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Au Hei Ching

Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace

Ms. Zhou Xiaochun

Mr. Huang Zhenming (Appointed on 24 January 2024)
Mr. Zheng Yu (Resigned on 24 January 2024)

The biographies of the Directors and their relationship, if any, are
set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report. The Company reviews the
composition of the Board from time to time, to ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate to the
Company’s business, and the Board has a strong independent
element to safeguard the interests of Shareholders.
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Appointment and re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing
from the Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other
and is subject to termination provisions therein and provisions on
retirement by rotation of the Directors as set out in the Articles of
Association.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,
one-third of the Directors (including executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors) shall retire from office
by rotation. Pursuant to Code Provision B.2.2 of the Corporate
Governance Code, all Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

As the 2023 annual general meeting of the Company was
convened on 31 May 2024 and the Directors were re-elected in
the meeting, the re-election of Directors for the year 2024 will be
proceeded in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
or its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Group are clearly defined and segregated to ensure independence
and proper checks and balances. The chairman focuses on the
business strategy and direction of the Company and has executive
responsibilities, provides leadership for the Board and ensures
proper and effective functioning of the Board in discharging of its
responsibilities. The chief executive officer is accountable to the
Board for the overall implementation of the Company’s strategies
and the coordination of overall business operations.

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Ms. Liu Jing served as the chairman of
the Board since the Listing Date and up to the 25 May 2022. No
replacement appointment of the Chairman was made after Ms.
Liu Jing’s resignation and the Company has not had a Chairman
since 25 May 2022. The position of chief executive officer of the
Company has remained vacant since the Listing Date. As all major
decisions are made in consultation with the members of the Board,
and there are four Independent Non-executive Directors on the
Board offering independent perspectives, the Board is therefore
of the view that there are adequate safeguards in place to ensure
sufficient balance of powers within the Board.

TRAINING AND CONTINUING DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

Upon appointing a new Director, each new Director receives
an induction package covering business operations, policy and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory and
regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that he/she is
sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules
and other relevant regulatory requirements.
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The Company also provides regular updates on the business
development of the Group. The Directors are regularly briefed
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable statutory requirements to ensure compliance and
maintenance of good corporate governance practices. In addition,
the Company has been encouraging the Directors to enroll in
professional development courses and seminars relating to the
Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance and corporate governance
practices organized by professional bodies or chambers in Hong
Kong. All Directors have confirmed that they had complied with
Code Provision C.1.4 during the Year by attending seminars and
briefings and reading relevant materials.

During the Reporting Period, all the Directors have participated in
appropriate continuous professional development and refreshed
their knowledge and skills so as to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. Such professional
development was completed by way of attending briefings,
conferences, courses, forums, seminars and lectures which are
relevant to the business or Directors’ duties, as well as reading
relevant information and participating in business— related
research.

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board held 16
meetings.

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other
means of electronic communication in accordance with the Articles
of Association. The joint company secretaries of the Company (the
“Joint Company Secretaries”) assist the Chairman to prepare the
agenda of the meeting and each Director may request to include
any matters in the agenda. Generally, notice would be given for a
regular meeting of the Company at least 14 days in advance. The
Directors will receive details of agenda items for decision at least
3 days before each Board meeting. The Joint Company Secretaries
are responsible for distributing detailed documents to each of the
Directors prior to the meetings of the Board to ensure that the
Directors may receive accurate, timely and clear information to
make informed decisions regarding the matters to be discussed in
the meetings. All Directors may access to the advice and services
of the Joint Company Secretaries who regularly update the Board
on governance and regulatory matters. All Directors will also
be provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties,
and upon reasonable request, the Directors will be able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
the Company’s expense. The Joint Company Secretaries are also
responsible for ensuring the procedures of Board meetings are
observed and providing the Board with opinions on matters in
relation to the compliance with the procedures of Board meetings.
All minutes of Board meetings will be recorded in sufficient details,
including the matters considered by the Board and the decisions
reached.

TEERBRE

R B IR E B YR AN AR B SR S B R 0 ST
BR-EFETHREREEHE MR LA
fil 38 AR R E T B R W - FEIRE
ST RETRENEERERTR - I K
ARA—ESZBHEZ2EHBFLEXEEX
BERM AR LMARA - RREM KA
XERTHRNEXERRAELTATE -2
BEECEARSTRAFEHC BT TR
X ECAAME - 2 & REHRS AN
BIEAERAM AL o

EREENHEHANEESINEE WA
BEXER  EECHME MR
HREEEEGBEEESRVAMENE
MTITHEERFHER - TREXERD
ATABRLFEEBEBREFTRS 2 EHH
€ 2% KE -BELMMIE ER-

BB BRI N2 MR BRI -

EESEE
HE2024F12R31HILtFE e B H

TI6REH -

RIEANFAMEIEMA  EFARG AL
EHREMEFBEATALFE R - AAQF]
Bt E A RIWE ((BEQXRWE]) K15 B
TREREHERE  SEFYN ERKIME
MEFMABEZA - RRA]—RREBTT
EHERE UBRERE -EFHRN
ROREEFSSAEPIAMKEFAZ
B UEEERE BEARWMEAER
BIEZERRNFEFHANMRTEES
PATE (R 2 55 A DAY B ZE 0~ % B A 75 AT A
R UEREZ LS TIWMONEREIFL
HMBRE -BEAPMEMNLEBEFREM
BRNERE  WEMAEEGIRHEERS
REFENSHER FMBEEZRHERR
DB RABITERE  UHEAREMEK
T ARAENBASRKBYERER
ERMBARRAE BERRAWETAR
MREEFETEREF UNETES
CEREFNEEMNESERHEER &
EEEANLEETHEMNNFE B
ETECEEMNFTRLMELARE

FIREERARAR —E-EFFHR

45



46

Corporate Governance Report

CEEARS

The individual attendance records of each Director at the various
meetings of the Company during the Reporting Period are set out

A E e E ST -

EEENHERANLFEARAEEZNE

below:
Annual Extraordinary
general general Audit Remuneration Nomination
meeting meeting Board Committee Committee ~ Committee
Name of Director BEENS RRBEFAE REBAAE EEe ENZEg §MzEe ReZES
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Chen Hua BREis 1 16/16 - 44 -
Mr. Lam Kam Kong MEREE N 16/16 - - 33
Mr. Sun Jingang RelltsE 10 16/16 - - -
Mr. Cheung Ka Wai! RRELAE - 8/8
Mr. Tse Chun Chung® HEPEER N 717 - - -
Independent Non-Executive Directors ~ BV ##H{7EE
Mr. Au Hei Ching BEBEE " 16/16 33 - 44
Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace EX Lyt i 16/16 33 44 44
Mr. Zheng Yu®® BFfas - N N - -
Ms. Zhou Xiaochun AlELL /1 16/16 3B 4/4 -
Mr. Huang Zhenming'” BRALE" 1 1014 M - -
" (appointed on 24 January 2024) " (FR202451 A24REZ )
# (appointed on 31 July 2024) # (7202457 A31HEZ )
# (resigned on 31 July 2024) #” (742024467 B31H B:E)
# (resigned on 24 January 2024) # (7202451 248 &HE)
BOARD COMMITTEES EExgZee
We have established the Audit Committee, Remuneration WFﬁEﬁAzozoizﬂmEl;ﬁz EBZLEE -
Committee and Nomination committee on 10 February 2020. FEach  HMEZE@higRZLEe - Ll =EZL 8
of the above three committees has written terms of reference in Ai’] B EMRAGIEEEBESE - &

compliance with the Listing Rules. The functions of the above three

committees are summarised as follows:
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

We established the Audit Committee. During the Reporting Period,
the Audit Committee consists of Mr. Au Hei Ching, Mr. Lee
Cheung Yuet Horace, Mr. Zheng Yu, Ms. Zhou Xiaochun and Mr.
Huang Zhenming and is chaired by Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace,
who have the appropriate professional qualifications required
under the Listing Rules. Mr. Zheng Yu has ceased to be member of
the Audit Committee on 24 January 2024. Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet
Horace has been appointed as the Chairman of Audit Committee
since 1 October 2023 and Mr. Huang Zhenming has been
appointed as the member of Audit Committee since 24 January
2024. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist our
Board by providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the
financial reporting process, internal control and risk management
system of our Group, to oversee the audit process, to develop and
review our policies and to perform other duties and responsibilities
as assigned by our Board.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual
report, the Audit Committee has performed its duties, reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control system and risk management
of the Company, the Group Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption
Policy and the Group Whistleblowing Policy, reviewed the terms of
engagement of the external auditors and the Group’s continuing
connected transactions. The Audit Committee has also reviewed
with the management of the Company the interim results of the
Group for the six months ended 30 June 2024 and also with the
external auditor the annual results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 and 2024, and was of the opinion that the
preparation of such results was in compliance with the relevant
accounting standards, rules and regulations and that adequate
disclosures have been made.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

We established the Remuneration Committee. During the
Reporting Period, The Remuneration Committee consists of Mr.
Chen Hua, Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace and Ms. Zhou Xiaochun
and is chaired by Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee include making recommendations
to our Board regarding our policy and structure for the
remuneration of all of our Directors and senior management.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee
has discussed and reviewed the remuneration policies of the
Company, reviewed and made recommendations with respect to
the remuneration of Board members for approval by the Board
and made recommendations with respect to the remuneration
of the newly appointed Director during the Reporting Period
for approval by the Board. The Remuneration Committee had
formulated the remuneration policy for Directors, approved the
terms of service contracts of Directors and devised the principle
for the remuneration of executive Directors for the year ended 31
December 2024.

REMUNERATION POLICY FOR DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is
determined on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence. The emoluments of the Directors are recommended
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance, experience,
responsibility, workload and time devoted to the Company and
comparable market statistics, for Board approval. Each of the
executive Directors is entitled to a basic salary which is reviewed
annually. In addition, each of the executive Directors may receive
a discretionary bonus as the Remuneration Committee may
recommend. Such amount has to be approved by the Board.

Details of the amount of Directors’ emoluments for the Reporting
Period are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

We established the Nomination Committee. During the Reporting
Period, the Nomination Committee consists of Mr. Lee Cheung
Yuet Horace, Mr. Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel and Mr. Au Hei
Ching. Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet has been appointed as the Chairman
of Nomination Committee with effect from 21 April 2023. The
primary functions of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of our Board and making recommendations on
any proposed changes to our Board to complement our Company’s
corporate strategy, identifying individuals suitably qualified to
become Board members, making recommendations to our Board
on the appointment of members of our Board and succession
planning of our Directors, and assessing the independence of our
independent non-executive Directors.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee had
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, the
implementation and effectiveness of the board diversity policy
and conducted a full review on the professional qualifications and
career background of all candidates to directorships and members
of each Board committee as well as the independence of the
independent Directors.
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Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors
The role of the independent non-executive Directors is to provide
independent and objective opinions to the Board, giving adequate
control and balances for the Company to protect the overall
interests of the Shareholders and the Company. They serve actively
on the Board and Board committees to provide their independent
and objective views. In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and
3.10A of the Listing Rules, as at the date of the annual report,
the Company has appointed four independent non-executive
Directors, representing more than one-third of the Board. One
of the independent non-executive Directors has the appropriate
professional qualifications in accounting or related financial
management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules. Each independent non-executive Director has submitted
annual confirmation of his/her independence to the Company
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the contents
of such confirmations, the Company considers that all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for selecting and
recommending candidates for directorships. The Board is ultimately
responsible for selection and appointment of new Directors.

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend
candidates, including candidate nominated by Shareholder(s),
for directorships to the Board by giving due consideration to
a wide range of criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board, including but not limited to gender, age,
experience, cultural and educational background, expertise,
skills and know-how, sufficient time to effectively carry out their
duties, qualifications including accomplishment and experience
in the relevant industries the Company’s business is involved in,
independence, reputation for integrity, relevant requirements
under the Listing Rules, potential contributions that the individual(s)
can bring to the Board and other factors as it may deem are in the
best interests of the Company and the Shareholders.
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Nomination Procedure and Process

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of a director with reference to the selection criteria
as mentioned above. The Nomination Committee may consult
any source it deems appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable
candidates, such as recommendations from existing directors,
professional agency firms and proposals from shareholders of the
Company. The Nomination Committee will adopt any process it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates,
such as review of resume, personal interviews, background checks
and third-party reference checks.

Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will convene a meeting to discuss and
consider the recommendation of the candidate to the Board for
appointment and the proposed remuneration package. The Board
will have the final authority on determining the appointment of
the Candidate.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

We have adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the
approach to achieve and maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of our Board that are relevant to our business
growth.

Pursuant to our board diversity policy, selection of our Board
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service, and any other factors that our Board
may consider relevant and applicable from time to time. High
emphasis is placed on ensuring a balanced composition of skills
and experience at our Board level in order to provide a range
of perspectives, insights and challenge that enable our Board to
discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively, support good
decision making in view of the core businesses and strategy of
our Group, and support succession planning and development
of our Board. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to our Board.
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Our Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring the
implementation of our board diversity policy. The proportion of
female Board representation is a measurable objective of the
Company in assessing the implementation of the diversity policy.
As at the date of this Report, the Board currently has one female
Director out of eight Directors, achieving the gender diversity of
the Board at 12.5%. The Board targets to maintain at least the
current level of female representation, with the ultimate goal
of increasing the proportion of female members over time as
and when suitable candidates are identified. The eight Directors
are from diverse and complementary backgrounds, including
business and operation management, legal, accounting, financial
management and alcohol-related management. The valuable
experiences and expertise they bring to our business are critical for
the long-term growth of the Group. Gender diversity at workforce
levels (including our senior management) is disclosed in the
Company’s “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.

Our Nomination Committee reviews our Board’s composition
at least once annually taking into account the benefits of all
relevant diversity aspects, and adhere to our board diversity policy
when making recommendation on any Board appointments. Our
Nomination Committee also ensures that diversity of our Board is
considered as part of the evaluation of our Board’s effectiveness.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Wong Ka Sing and Mr.
Lam Kan Kong Nathaniel are the joint company secretaries of
the Company. Mr. Wong Ka Sing has been appointed to be the
Company Secretary of the Company with effect from 1 March
2024 whose biography is set out in the section headed “Biography
of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
Mr. Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel was appointed as joint company
secretary on 7 June 2024 and Mr. Wong Ka Sing was redesignated
as joint company secretary on 7 June 2024. Mr. Chan Ming Kei
was the company secretary of the Company. Mr. Chan Ming Kei
has later ceased to be a company secretary of the Company on 1
March 2024.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
We have adopted or expect to adopt a set of risk management
measures and internal control policies to identify, evaluate and
manage risks arising from our operations. Our internal control
system is summarised as follows:

—  The Company does not have an internal audit function.
We have formed an Audit Committee comprising four
independent non-executive Directors as part of our measures
to assist the Board to improve corporate governance. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to provide our
Directors with an independent review of the effectiveness
of the financial reporting process, internal control, risk
management system and ESG performance and reporting
of our Group, to oversee the audit process, and to perform
other duties and responsibilities as assigned by our Directors;

—  We have adopted and implemented comprehensive control
policies in respect of various aspects of our business
operations such as (i) risk management policies; (ii) conflict of
interest guidelines; and (iii) disclosure guidelines;

- We have established system and manuals in relation to,
among others, distribution of annual or interim reports and
publication, handling and monitoring of inside information
prior to public announcement and other requirements under
the Listing Rules;

- Our Directors have attended training sessions conducted by
our legal advisers as to Hong Kong laws on the on-going
obligations and duties of a director of a company whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange;

—  We have complied with the Corporate Governance Code. To
avoid potential conflicts of interest, we have implemented
corporate governance measures as set out in the paragraph
headed “Relationship with Our Controlling Shareholders
— Corporate governance measures” in the Prospectus, if
applicable. Our Directors reviewed our corporate governance
measures and our compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code each financial year and complied with the
“comply or explain” principle in our corporate governance
reports to be included in our annual reports after Listing;

—  We have engaged legal advisers as to Hong Kong laws,
to advise and assist our Board on compliance matters in
relation to the Listing Rules and/or other relevant laws and
regulations applicable to our Company; and
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—  When considered necessary and appropriate, we will seek

professional advice and assistance from independent internal
control consultants, external legal advisers and/or other
appropriate independent professional advisers with respect to
matters relating to our internal controls and legal compliance.

During the Reporting Period, we engaged an independent internal
control consultant (the “Internal Control Consultant”) to perform
a review over certain key areas of our internal control system. The
Internal Control Consultant provided recommendations for our
management’s consideration to enhance our internal controls and
procedures.

We are satisfied that the our risk management and internal control
systems including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions as appropriate to the Group have
been put in place and considers the risk management and internal
control systems effective and adequate.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group’s
financial statements for each financial period to give a true and fair
view of the financial position, results and cash flows of the Group
for the period. In preparing the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Board has selected appropriate
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared
the financial statements on a going concern basis. The Directors
are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps to
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities.

ACCOUNTING RECORDS

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the
financial position of the Group and which enable the preparation
of financial statements in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards as promulgated by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

GOING CONCERN
The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it
is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Reporting Period, the Company appointed KTC, in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards to
provide audit services to the Company. The remuneration relating
to the annual audit services was HK$1,100,000.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders have the right to initiate and convene
general meetings

In accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association of
the Company, the shareholders shall be entitled to the following
rights: Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on
the requisition of one or more shareholders, at the date of deposit
of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings.
Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings

Shareholders are welcome to put forward proposals relating to
the operations, strategy and/or management of the Group at a
general meeting. Proposals shall be sent to the Board or the Joint
Company Secretaries by written requisition to the Joint Company
Secretaries at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at 1101, 11th floor, Gloucester Tower, The Landmark, 15
Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong.

Shareholders are entitled to the enquiry right
Shareholders are entitled to make enquiries to the Board by directly
mailing to the Company at its principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Suites 1101, 11th Floor, Gloucester Tower, The Landmark,
15 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong. The Company will deal
with all enquiries in a timely and appropriate manner.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company believes that effective communication with
shareholders is essential to the enhancement of the relationship
with investors and enhancement of investors’ understanding of the
Company’s business and strategies. The Company highly values
shareholders’ opinions and suggestions, and actively organises and
conducts various activities related to the relationship with investors
in order to maintain the communication with shareholders, and to
timely satisfy the reasonable demands of all shareholders.

To enhance effective communication, the Company maintains its
website at http://www.dwhl1950.com where latest information
on the Company’s business development, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available
for public access.

The AGM will be held on 30 May 2025. The notice of the AGM
will be sent to the Shareholders at least 20 clear business days
before the AGM.

RELATIONSHIP WITH INVESTORS

The Company believes that good relationship with investors will
help build a more stable shareholder base. As a result, since
the Listing, the Company has been and will be dedicated to
maintaining a higher degree of transparency, complying with the
Listing Rules and timely providing investors with comprehensive
and accurate information, and continuously performing its
obligation of information disclosure as a listed company. The
Company will strengthen its communication with investors and let
investors understand corporate strategies and business operation
by organising road shows, participating in investors summit,
voluntary information disclosure and others.

The Board considers our current practices were all well-
implemented throughout the Year and achieved satisfactory
results.

The Company will continue to maintain a policy for open and
effective communication with investors for the purposes of timely
providing investors with the latest information on the Company’s
business while in compliance with the relevant regulatory
provisions.
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ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

The Articles of Association was conditionally adopted on 10
February 2020 with effect from the Listing Date. The Listing Rules
have been amended with effect from 1 January 2022 which
requires, among others, listed issuers to adopt a uniform set of 14
core standards for shareholder protection. The Company amended
and restated the memorandum of association and articles of
association of the Company by adopting a second amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association of the Company.
For details, please refer to the second amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association published on the website
of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the
Company (www.dwhl1950.com).

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The Company actively fulfills its social responsibilities by protecting
the environment, making good use of and cherishing resources,
adopting more environmentally-friendly designs and technologies
and improving the environmental awareness of its employees,
partners and customers, so as to minimize the impacts of the
business of the Company on the environment. For details, please
refer to the 2024 Environmental, Social and Governance Report of
the Company, which will be published on the website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the Company
(www.dwhl1950.com).
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B & B A RS

KTC Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

T MEEAMEFRERAE

To the shareholders of
DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Diwang
Industrial Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 65 to
167, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Boards (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

>
FTEIEREZERABMRATARR
(REAEFHSZ ML EREA])

=R
BMEEZEINFESEI67TEMNTLEE
¥rEBRAaRAR ([Ead)) REWB QA
(BB BEE]) NEABHRE EFE
FER2024F 12 A3 B MG B B AR R &
HEZHLEFENGABEEREMZEK
mK CREEREHRMGARERER
UREREMBEREM T (BIEERGFTH
REBREMBEER) -

BMRE KAV BRERBRERBR £
AEEe ((EREFTENESE]) BHH
BIRR B 75 e 5 22 R (B BR B A 3R 5 26 A1l )
HEER2024F12
ANBMEGEEMBRAREHEZHA IEF
EMGREMBRBERGEEEERE T2
BREBLNTEOPINBEEREL BRE

RREXE

BMERBREBSFMAE ((FEBEEE
D) BEANETBEZEER ([EFBREE
B ETTEZ T - HAIRIEZSEAD
BEEE - PHARARSZBMBEZSE
BHEHRRNEE - RBEBSFEQ
SNEESFAETTRI(FRAD - F#AM
B E5E BRMERETRIET
HpEmEE - RMABE RAMESHK
BEZREEREREE M ARMANEZE
RIRHELE-

Room 1305-07, 13/F., New East Ocean Centre, 9 Science Museum Road, Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong
FHBFER DL RFPAEEIRI R EH E P 1341305-07F

Tel E35: (852)23147999  Fax {%A:(852)2110 9498

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report

E-mail &-F#45: info@ktccpa.com.hk

Website 48 & : www.ktccpa.com



KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Independent Auditor’s Report
B & B A RS

FAREXER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional ~ EAHFZEHIERBERMANTEHE - £
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the  HME ARG ETBERERNBZPRE
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These — EHEIE - ZE5FEA KM U EE PR
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the  RETEEEZLMILENE REFEE
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our  F A9 T ghitk BAMEH E

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matter

BREREE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN EF AR ERRETSE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

€ 5 R R R E R L

Refer to notes 5(ii)(b) and 21 to the consolidated financial statements

FE S B AR A B8R M RS (i) (b) R221

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had gross trade
receivables of approximately RMB237,089,000 and
recognised provision for impairment of approximately
RMB15,923,000.

M20245F12A31H - EEBEEEZHEKFKIBRR
#) AN R %237,089,0007T M HER B EEEOARE
15,923,0007T °

Management performed periodic assessment on
the recoverability of the trade receivables and the
sufficiency of provision for impairment based on
information including credit profile of different
customers, ageing of the trade receivables, historical
settlement records, subsequent settlement status,
expected timing and amount of realisation of
outstanding balances, and on-going trading
relationships with the relevant customers. Management
also considered forward-looking information that may
impact the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding
balances in order to estimate the expected credit losses
for the impairment assessment.
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Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment on trade receivables included:
HKMEHAEREEHE ZRBFIENREERTFENRER
B

o Understanding the credit control procedures
performed by management, including its procedures
on periodic review of trade receivables and expected
credit losses assessment on trade receivables;

s THWEBREBITZGEEZREREREF BRHETHHF
BEZREFARTEEGRIWRBZEREE
BRERERF

e Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing profile of
the trade receivables as at year end to the underlying
financial records and post year-end settlements to
bank receipts;

o HRMEBMBREMERENFRE S RWIA
HIRREC BN - WS FARIR A BT ERIRITWCRAZ S
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Mz AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) BREZEBIEE)
Key audit matter (continued) How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
REEREE(E) RPN EBTNMEERRETEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables (continued)

B 5 EWRRREE (&)

Refer to notes 5(ii)(b) and 21 to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

FES MRS B |RM ) (b) K21 (&)

We focused on this area due to the impairment e
assessment of trade receivables under the expected
credit losses model involved the use of significant
management judgements and estimates.
BMEINZEE  RESEBEEERERTY

B 5 WA R R R (408 M8 B 1R T & A I
Kefhiat e

Inquiring of management for the status of each of
the material trade receivables past due as at year end
and corroborating explanations from management
with supporting evidence, such as understanding on-
going business relationship with the customers based
on trade records, checking historical and subsequent
settlement records of and other correspondence with
the customers; and
MEREEAEANFRCAHNERESEW
RIEORRN WA BEREEEERE E’J%¢$$
WMRBE Hrcsk T RERTFPNSEXRBREE
B PR MR AR D8 R EAMEE M

Assessing the appropriateness of the expected credit
losses provisioning methodology, examining the key
data inputs on a sample basis to assess their accuracy
and completeness, and challenging the assumptions,
including both historical and forward-looking
information, used to determine the expected credit
losses.
AATEREEERBE R ANES L  BkRE
F*ﬁﬁk%ﬂﬁﬁ@)\ﬁﬂ LA KR M S B IE
RETRACEFEMEANBRR (BREESL
&H‘ AR -

We found the key assumptions used in impairment
assessment of trade receivables were supported by the
available evidence.
BMRRESREFERETEMANBERRRE
BRI o
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Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon (“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and,
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair value
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

B % BED R &
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B & B A RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

BBMELGEVBRERRNELE
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the group
as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

Tel &3%: (852)2314 7999
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B & B A RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

KTC Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Ng Yan Chak
Practising Certificate Number: P08328

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEeEEREtEZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Lok ARBT R AR®EF T

Revenue WA 7 566,475 570,572
Cost of sales 84 & B (309,176) (337,189)
Gross profit EF 257,299 233,383
Other income HAub g A 8 4,269 3,418
Other gains and losses, net Hofh e M B RFRR 9 39 67
Impairment losses under expected credit FBEREEEEE R T 2R EE

loss model, net of reversal 18 - HIBr#EE [l (6,978) (4,061)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of financial assets &z A EFF ABE ([1EA

at fair value though profit or loss FEFABRD Z2EMEE

(“FVTPL") 2 (E18),Was (1,018) 4,032
Loss on fair value change of financial ~ ZAFETABZZEREE

assets at FVTPL N EEHERE (969) (2,181)
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HAXZ (182,381) (163,147)
Administrative and general expenses TR —MAX (33,278) (35,104)
Share of result of an associate DIGEBE AR EE 19 (79) (82)
Finance costs BA TSR 10 (1,400) (688)
Profit before tax R A E R 11 35,504 35,637
Income tax expenses TS X 12 (5,489) (10,763)
Profit for the year ARTEE ABLEFRRFR 30,015 24,874
Profit/(loss) for the year UTEGEERER(BE) :

attributable to:

Owners of the Company PAN/NEIE FEWN 30,030 19,451

Non-controlling interests FEERRAE A 39 (15) 5,423

30,015 24,874
Earnings per share (RMB cents) BREAN(ARESD)
Basic and diluted BEARREE 16 4.17 4.11
FEIBXEEZERERLAT —ZT-HOFFR
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REeEasREtEzEKRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZF 20244 12 A 31 A1 F/Z

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

2024 Annual Report

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B & ARMTF T ARBFT
Profit for the year FREF 30,015 24,874
Other comprehensive income/(loss) HEtt2EU A (E8)
Item that may be reclassified HErfEEN 7 E B
subsequently to profit or loss: JEH -
Exchange difference on translating MEBINER ZER Z5
foreign operation 143 (251)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) EREMEEWA(EB)
for the year 143 (251)
Total comprehensive income FREEBALE
for the year 30,158 24,623
Total comprehensive income/(loss) U TEEFERZEBA
for the year attributable to: (B8 8% :
Owners of the Company PIN/NEE FEWN 30,173 19,200
Non-controlling interests FEIERR A (15) 5,423
30,158 24,623
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e 8RR R

As at 31 December 2024

R2024F 12 A31 H

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR¥ T ARETIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BREREE 17 194,448 113,851
Right-of-use assets EREEE 18 59,583 25,676
Interest in an associate R—EBE AR 2R 19 5,426 5,505
Prepayments TERTRIA 22 8,116 42,305
Deferred tax assets FRIEFRIEE E 30 2,700 1,617
270,273 188,954
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 20 44,677 108,312
Trade and bills receivables B 5 W TE K e R 21 241,274 242,037
Prepayments, deposits and other TERRIE - ke REMEK
receivables KIE 22 207,287 135,514
Financial assets at FVTPL BAVEFAEBEENEMEE 23 5,972 9,522
Pledged bank deposits EEMRITHER 24 3,475 4,300
Bank balances and cash RITESR MRS 24 54,726 48,952
557,411 548,637
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and bills payables 2 5N RIE R ENZE 25 70,282 51,538
Other payables and accruals H fth pe <t 518 K B 5T & A 26 18,618 15,307
Deferred income EFEUA 27 487 487
Amounts due to related companies JE 1~ B8 R RIFRIE 28 463 1,453
Tax payables FEfT BT 1,303 1,797
Bank borrowings RI7EE 29 64,500 25,000
155,653 95,582
Net current assets RBEEFE 401,758 453,055
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEE 672,031 642,009
Non-current liability FRBEME
Deferred income EIEURA 27 3,287 3,423
Net assets EEZFE 668,744 638,586
FTIBXEERERAT —T-HWFEFIR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B3R R R

As at 31 December 2024 20244 12 431 H

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

i AR¥TT ARBETTT

Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital [N 32 12,705 12,705
Reserves G 631,389 601,216

Total equity attributable to owners of  ZNA R A A (G i 4258

the Company 644,094 613,921
Non-controlling interest FEPE A b 2 24,650 24,665
Total equity MR 668,744 638,586

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28~ 7202543 7928H /& & = & #it /f & 1% 4 Tl

March 2025. o

Chen Hua Sun Jingang
R 2 BmEm
Director Director
EFE EFE

The accompany notes from an integral part of these consolidated — BEFT 2 Ml sE B A 4R A B HRE 2 — 5 »
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

n‘/_\/EI\*EﬁT;\L%EjJ%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z

Attributable to owners of the Company

ALHEARLE
Non-
Share Share  Capital  Statutory  Exchange  Retained controlling Total
apitl  premium  reserve  reseve  reserve  earings Total interests equity
ke RHEE E4RE tERE  EXRE REEA A% FERER AR
ABO0  RNBODD  RWBOD  RVBODD  RUBDD  RUBOD  RVBDDD  RUBLD  RVBOXD
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
(note () (note ()
(Brstb)) (aka)
At 1 January 2023 R0BEIAIA 4962 2028% 62,659 20379 (2,250) 42533 331141 19242 350,383
Poft for he ear R - - - - R 73 IV /X BRI 1
Other comprehensive oss for the year ~~ EREM2AFE - - - - (251) - (251) - (251)
Total compreensive (oss)income En2E(BE)/ A
for the year &% - - - - (251) 19451 19,200 5423 2613
Transfer to statutory reserve BETITHE - - - 2778 - 778) - - -
lssue of shares from right issue (note 320b) R IEERERA
(H3E3210) 173 258305 - - - - 66048 - 266008
Transacton cossatirbutabletoissve of — REMRETRAELS
shares from right issue REWA - (2,468) - - - - (2.468) - (2,468)
At31 December 2023 and 1 January 204 12023127318
R04F1A18 12705 458,69 62,659 23,157 (2501 59,206 613,921 24,665 638,586
Profitoss) for the year Emarl/ (58) - - - - - 3000 30030 (15 30015
Other comprehensive income for the year ~ ERE B ZERA - - - - 18 - 13 - 13
Total comprehensive income/oss) EnzERA/(BB)
for the year 4% - - - - w3080 307 (15 30158
Transfer to statutory resenve E ey - - - (130 - 1320 - - -
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12831R 12,005 458,695 62,659 18317 (2358) 90,556 644,094 2,650 668,744
Notes: PHRE -
(@  The subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC shall appropriate (@ RBHRERAEE - KRR AR B I

10% of their annual statutory net profit (after offsetting any prior years’
losses) to the statutory reserve fund account in accordance with the PRC
Company Law. When the balance of such reserve fund reaches 50% of
the subsidiary’s share capital, any further appropriation is optional. The
statutory reserve fund can be utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to
increase capital after proper approval.

Capital reserve represents the difference between the aggregate amount
of issued and fully paid share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the
Company and the nominal amount of the shares issued by the Company
in exchange for the entire equity interests in the subsidiaries as part of
the Group reorganisation during the year ended 31 December 2016.

J& A BB B A E AR R (K 85 (E ) 4
EFEEEER) M10%EREZETHEDK
P o i RS R E BT B R R AR Y
50% - RIFEZR BAEEME — S8R - 0
ESEEER RERBL T BIEEHESB
EFEBRRILE -

EARGBEIEEHZ2016F12A31B EFEAR
BIFTEEN B A RIME BT R R A A5
AN E AR B B A B &2 SRR E A
EESEH—FHNBETROEEMMZESE -

FIREERARAR —E-EFFHR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mEEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2024 F 12 431 HIFF/E

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

i AR¥TT ARBETTT

Operating activities REER
Profit before tax B 758 A 2 ) 35,504 35,637
Adjustments for: FATIEE (B % -
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERRBITE

equipment 17 11,584 9,610
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAREEENE 18 1,093 606
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEWE  WEREKEZ

plant and equipment BB (W) 9 2 (6)
Written off of inventory WEEE 11 - (13,647)
Provision for impairment loss under ECL  FEEf{Z EESEIEXE T

model on trade receivables B RKFIE

EE B 6,978 4,061

Bank interest income RITH B YA 8 (103) (182)
Finance costs EUR DN 10 1,400 638
Loss/(gain) on disposal of financial assets &% AFEzH ABZEZ

at FVTPL SREEZEE (W) 1,018 (4,032)
Loss on fair value change of financial BATEFABGRNEREE

assets at FVTPL 2 AT EEHERE 969 2,181
Share of result of an associate DAGHEE N B EE 19 79 82
Exchange gain, net b 5, W 2 ) 5B 9 (41) 61)
Operating cash inflows before LEESPHINKLERS

movements in working capital mA 58,483 34,937
Decrease in inventories FERD 63,635 3,578
Increase in trade and bills receivables B 5 W TE N e W S N (6,215) (101,333)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and  FE{SFRIE ~ £ d K H A UK

other receivables THIE N (71,773) (128,904)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills B EMNZERENERE

payables =, A) 18,744 (17,118)
Increase in other payables and accruals o fth FE 1< I8 K E AT & A 1E 0 3,311 6,814
(Decrease)/increase in deferred income  #EIEUT A CGFLA), 1% 0 (136) 3,363

Cash generated from/(used in) operating 4% EENFT15(FTFA) 2

activities
66,049 (198,663)
Income tax paid B PTEE (7,066) (17,654)
Net cash generated from/(used in) e EREE,(FTA)
operating activities HeF5E 58,983 (216,317)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GEEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 AL F/Z

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

fieE  AR%WTT ARETTT

Investing activities REEE
Additions of items of property, plant and A& Y% -« BE K& E

equipment and right-of-use assets R ERAEERE (84,996) (14,983)
Prepayments for additions of property, ~FBfIAREBEWE - WE L&

plant and equipment (8,116) (42,305)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - HE ME&#E

plant and equipment Fri55k18 118 35
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank SR ITER

deposits (38 ) 825 (1,872)
Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL BB IR A FET ABZH

CREE - (8,856)

Net proceeds from disposal of financial ~ H &% AFExt A B

assets at FVTPL TRLE E TS RIEFE 1,890 9,072
Capital injection into an associate —HBERFZTE 19 - (2,700)
Interest received 2 A E 103 182
Net cash used in investing activities REEEMARSFE (90,176) (61,427)
Financing activities REEE
Proceeds from bank borrowings SRITEEERIE 49,500 25,000
Repayment of bank borrowings BERIR{TTEE (10,000) (10,000)
(Repayment to)/advance from related (18g), 8 Hﬁ’ﬁ/z}

companies (990) 1,006
Proceeds from issue of shares BAITIRM PRISFRIE - 266,048
Payment of issue costs XEITER - (2,468)
Interest paid ERAE (1,400) (688)
Net cash generated from financing BEEEBIRE FE

activities 37,110 278,898
Net increase in cash and cash RERBEFEY

equivalents HEnFEEE 5,917 1,154
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUzHeRAECEED

beginning of the year 48,952 48,112
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [ R & &)z 52 (143) (314)

Total cash and cash equivalents at the FARZIRE RIRESZBYEE
end of the year 54,726 48,952
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024

1.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

GENERAL INFORMATION

Diwang Industrial Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law as an exempted company with limited liability. The
registered office address is at 89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay,
Grand Cayman KY1-9009, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company is 1101, 11™ Floor,
Gloucester Tower, The Landmark, 15 Queen's Road Central,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
manufacturing and sales of faux leather chemicals and
Chinese baijiu. The shares of the Company (the “Shares”)
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the presentation currency of the
Company. All values are rounded to the nearest thousands
(“RMB’000") except otherwise indicated. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, which is different
from the Company’s functional currency of Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”). The directors of the Company adopted RMB
as presentation currency as the Group’s operating activities
are carried out in the PRC.

2024 Annual Report

BZE2024F 12 931 HiIFFEE

1.

—REHR
FTIEEERAERAR (XAH])
BEAREZEREHSTMA LA
B e B RN o ok i3 5E it
/89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay, Grand
Cayman KY1-9009, Cayman Islands °
RAAREELEMEBUREAZRAK
BRISHEEMESEELTITRENE
1101E

ARRB/—REELZEB AT - HWE
A ([AEBE]) TERETRELE
EATREEREBE - ARRKRNG
(BB RBEBERXSMAER AR
(B3R ) EAR E70

FEMBHREAARBE(TARE]DZ
5 ARERARRZZ2INER - B
AEEREIN FESHCHNEER
EENTH(TARBTR) - &alt
BHRRAAREZS] BARE 2T
rgEEIT((Bx]) TR - KRRARE
EXRAARBERZINEE  REAR
AEBETERREEES -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HIFF/Z

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following

amendments to IFRSs issued by the International Accounting

Standards Board (“IASB”) for the first time, which are

mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period

beginning on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Non-current Liabilities with

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Covenants
Amendments to IAS 7 and Supplier Finance
IFRS 7 Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year.

The Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or noncurrent, which:

e specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are
in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZF 20244 12 A 31 A1 F/Z
2.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“IFRSS”) (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 1

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

and Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities

with Covenants (continued)

e clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer
of cash, goods or services, or the entity's own equity
instruments to the counterparty. If a liability has terms
that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in
its settlement by the transfer of the entity's own equity
instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises
the option separately as an equity instrument applying
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants specifically clarify that only covenants that an
entity is required to comply with on or before the end of the
reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement
of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
date, even if compliance with the covenant is assessed only
after the reporting date. The IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants also specify that covenants with which
an entity must comply after the reporting date (i.e. future
covenants) do not affect the classification of a liability as
current or non-current at the reporting date. However, if the
entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the
entity complying with covenants within twelve months after
the reporting period, an entity discloses information that
enables users of financial statements to understand the risk
of the liabilities becoming repayable within twelve months
after the reporting period. This would include information
about the covenants, the carrying amount of related liabilities
and facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate that the
entity may have difficulties complying with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group
has applied the new accounting policy to the classification
of liability as current or non-current retrospectively. The
application of the amendments in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HIFF/Z

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“IFRSS”) (continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 7 and
IFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year.

The amendments add a disclosure objective to IAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows stating that an entity is required to
disclose information about its supplier finance arrangements
that enables users of financial statements to assess the
effects of those arrangements on the entity’s liabilities and
cash flows.

In addition, IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures was
amended to add supplier finance arrangements as an
example within the requirements to disclose information
about an entity’s exposure to concentration of liquidity risk.

In accordance with the transition provision, the entity is
not required to disclose comparative information for any
reporting periods presented before the beginning of the
annual reporting period in the first year of application as
well as the information required by IAS 7:44 (b)(ii) and (b)(iii)
above as at the beginning of the annual reporting period in
which the entity first applies those amendments.

The Group has provided additional disclosures related to the
amendments in notes 5(ii)(c) and 25.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HiIFF/Z

2. 2.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“IFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Annual Improvements to IFRS
Accounting Standards —
Volume 113

Lack of Exchangeability?

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to IAS 21

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new and amendments to IFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to IFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZF 20244 12 A31 H I F/Z

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“IFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to
the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments

The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify the recognition and
derecognition for financial asset and financial liability and
add an exception which permits an entity to deem a financial
liability to be discharged before the settlement date if it is
settled in cash using an electronic payment system if, and
only if certain conditions are met.

The amendments also provide guidance on the assessment
of whether the contractual cash flows of a financial
asset are consistent with a basic lending arrangement.
The amendments specify that an entity should focus on
what an entity is being compensated for rather than
the compensation amount. Contractual cash flows are
inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement if they are
indexed to a variable that is not a basic lending risk or cost.
The amendments state that, in some cases, a contingent
feature may give rise to contractual cash flows that are
consistent with a basic lending arrangement both before
and after the change in contractual cash flows, but the
nature of the contingent event itself does not relate directly
to changes in basic lending risks and costs. Furthermore,
the description of the term “non-recourse” is enhanced and
the characteristics of “contractually linked instruments” are
clarified in the amendments.

The disclosure requirements in IFRS 7 in respect of
investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are amended. In
particular, entities are required to disclose the fair value
gain or loss presented in other comprehensive income
during the period, showing separately those related to
investments derecognised during the reporting period and
those related to investments held at the end of the reporting
period. An entity is also required to disclose any transfers
of the cumulative gain or loss within equity related to the
investments derecognised during the reporting period. In
addition, the amendments introduce the requirements of
qualitative and quantitative disclosure of contractual terms
that could affect the contractual cash flow based on a
contingent even not directly relating to basic lending risks
and cost.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 AL F/Z

2. 2.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“IFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to
the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments (continued)

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2026, with early application
permitted. The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new IFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in IAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;
provide disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and
improve aggregation and disaggregation of information to
be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some IAS
1 paragraphs have been moved to IAS 8 and IFRS 7. Minor
amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IAS 33
Earnings per Share are also made.

[FRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation of
the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of IFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with accounting policies which conform with
IFRSs issued by the IASB. For the purpose of preparation
of the consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decision made by primary users. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and companies
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group's interests in existing subsidiaries
Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group's relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZF 20244 12 A 31 A1 F/Z
3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZF 20244 12 A31 H I F/Z

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in
progress) are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for a property interest
which includes both leasehold land and building elements,
the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold
land and the building elements in proportion to the relative
fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element
and building element at initial recognition. To the extent
the allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as
an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” in
the consolidated statement of financial position. When the
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold
land and building elements, the entire property is generally
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than construction in progress) less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:
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Plant and machinery

HeEs KR i

Motor vehicles

HE

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment
B RERBFAZE

Residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective

basis.

over the shorter of the unexpired lease term and their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 20 years after the
date of completion
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZF 20244 12 A 31 A1 F/Z
3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the assets and is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

J the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R HRAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZF 20244 12 A31 H I F/Z

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets;
and

J the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a
business combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations
applies.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debts instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost and at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 AL F/Z
3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

Debt instruments/receivables classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt
instruments/receivables classified as at FVTOCI as a result of
interest income calculated using the effective interest method
are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes in the
carrying amount of these debt instruments/receivables are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of FVTOCI reserve. Impairment allowances
are recognised in profit or loss with corresponding
adjustment to other comprehensive income without reducing
the carrying amounts of these debt instruments/receivables.
When these debt instruments/receivables are derecognised,
the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset and is disclosed separately in consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit losses (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
and bills receivables, deposit and other receivables, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances) which are subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting period to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and bills
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HiIFF/Z
3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e  significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

J an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

J an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessments, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of
“investment grade” as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 AL F/Z
3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(©) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default
is based on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses a
practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables
using a provision matrix taking into consideration historical
credit loss experience, and forward looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HiIFF/Z
3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar
credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for investments in debt instruments/receivables
that are measured at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with
the exception of trade and other receivables, where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZF 20244 12 A 31 A1 F/Z
3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continueq)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and bills payables, other
payables and accruals, amounts due to related companies
and bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
a financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Supplier finance arrangement

As disclosed in note 25, the Group entered into certain
supplier finance arrangements during the year. While the
agreement with the Group’s suppliers and the invoice due
date remains unchanged, the banks offer to pay amounts
the Group owed to its suppliers and the Group pays
according to the terms and conditions of the arrangements
at the same date as, or a date later than, the suppliers are
paid. These arrangements provide the Group with extended
payment terms, or the Group’s suppliers with early payments
terms, when compared to the related invoice due date. In
determining whether the liabilities to the banks under these
arrangements are presented separately from trade and bills
payables, the directors of the Group consider whether the
nature and function of these liabilities are sufficiently different
from trade and bills payables. For liabilities that are part of
the working capital used in the Group’s normal operating
cycle, they are presented within trade and bills payable.

2024 Annual Report

3.

REMBEBRNGREER
EXRSTHBEEES @)

£WMIEE)
CHEERESETA(E)
THEE

e aEERFERERIRER
B AR -

KB HK AT EN T BB E
TREE (BHEBEDRNREREN
FiE - HibEARAKLETER &
fTRE R R REURRITEE) Hig
A BERME AR BN AGE -

THERER IR

EREEAKENE TEMRLR - T
HEME  ARES R ILEZRS R
BE-RUIEINERAGBZEME
B e RAHE 2 ZRNREHER

B A L

FANHT 25PN R - AR BN FAE]
VETHEMRE L -BEERAE
BHERZHELEZZNHAESTT
B BERITEEN RSB RN HMH
fEm 7R MASEAREREL
BEZ IR R AR - IR R
EHZEBEETTAT - L ARRE
BEZFHME  HELHR/AKEIE
HER AR AAEE 2 HE
PR IR AT EGR IR Z 165K - EETE
REESFLZHELEZRTRAERSS R
B2RNFBARENEED HIIR
B AREEEgERLTABEIMN
BRI EE 5N A REN
EBEFEEREZR -HRBAKEL
FeERRMAEEES —HoE
& ZFAEENESHENFARE
NEBEARHR -



—
———

=

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continueq)
Supplier finance arrangement (continued)

For the purpose of presenting cash flows statement, cash
flows related to the liabilities arising from supplier finance
arrangements that are classified as trade payable are still part
of the working capital used in the entity’s principal revenue
generating activities. Therefore, the cash outflows to settle
the trade payables under supplier finance arrangement are
presented as arising from operating activities. On the other
hand, for the arrangements which the related liability is
not a trade or bills payable because the liability represents
borrowings of the Group, the Group presents cash outflows
to settle these liabilities as arising from financing activities in
the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of processing,
labour and indirect overheads, and other costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.
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3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Inventories (continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period
in which the reversal occurs.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the government
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HIFF/Z

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting polices relating to
revenue from contracts with customers is provided in note 7.

Leases

The Group as lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZF 20244 12 A 31 A1 F/Z
3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

e  the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Taxation
Income tax for the period comprises current and deferred
income tax expenses.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit and at the time of transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
difference.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset when
there is legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZF 20244 12 A 31 A1 F/Z
3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise
the Group’s mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus
any positive/negative returns thereof, for the purpose of
offsetting Long Service Payment (“LSP”) payable to an
employee (the “Offsetting Arrangement”).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans (continued)

The Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordnance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”) was gazetted on 17 June 2022,
which will officially take effect on the Transition Date (i.e., 1
May 2025).

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group ’s mandatory
MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns,
after the Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset
the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but are not eligible to
offset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation. Furthermore,
the LSP obligation before the Transition Date will be
grandfathered and calculated based on the last monthly
wages immediately preceding the Transition Date and the
years of service up to that date. The Group does not consider
the Amendment Ordinance to have material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

The employees in the Company’s subsidiaries operating
in the PRC are members of retirement benefits scheme
(the “PRC RB Schemes”) operated by the local municipal
government. The local municipal government undertakes to
assume the retirement benefit obligation of all existing and
future retired employees of the PRC subsidiaries. The only
obligation of the PRC subsidiaries with respect to the PRC RB
Scheme is to meet the required contributions under the PRC
RB Schemes. The contributions are charged to the profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the relevant
laws and regulations of the PRC.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZF 20244 12 A 31 A1 F/Z
3.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in
which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of exchange reserve.

Research and development expense

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZF 20244 12 A31 H I F/Z

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting material policies,
which are described in note 3 to consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Key sources of estimations uncertainty

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors of the Company
have made in the process of applying the Group’s material
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Provision of ECL for financial assets measured at
amortised cost

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumption about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group use judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based
on the debtor’s aging analysis, historical settlement record,
existing market conditions as well as forward— looking
information that is reasonable and supportable and available
without undue costs or effort at the end of each reporting
period.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade and bills
receivables, and deposits and other receivables are disclosed
in notes 5, 21 and 22.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZF 20244 12 A 31 A1 F/Z
5. $WIA

5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(i) Categories of financial instruments (i) £«RITEEHR

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBEFIT

Financial assets at amortised cost REHERATENSREE
— Trade receivables — & 5 WA 221,166 223,343
— Deposits and other receivables — & e R H A R FRIE 479 139
— Pledged bank deposits —BIEIBRITFR 3,475 4,300
— Bank balances and cash —iRITHEBREIRE 54,726 48,952
279,846 276,734

Bills receivables at FVTOCI BAFEFAEMEEEKA
HEWRE 20,108 18,694

Financial assets at FVTPL BAFREFAEBZNSE

BE 5,972 9,522

Financial liabilities at amortised RBHERTTTENSREE

cost

— Trade and bills payables —E G EMNFIERENZE 70,282 51,538
— Other payables and accruals — H At fE T 5RIE R FEETH B A 13,862 12,131
— Amounts due to related companies  — & {<f B3 A B 28 463 1,453
— Bank borrowings —RITEE 64,500 25,000
149,107 90,122

(ii)

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
trade and bills receivables, deposits and other
receivables, financial assets at FVTPL, pledged bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and bills
payables, other payables and accruals, amounts due to
related companies and bank borrowings.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are market risk (including interest rate risk,
foreign currency risk and equity price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s management reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks
and they are summarised below:

2024 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. ®®TIT A&
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) ¥HEAREEEERBER(Z)
policies (continued)
(@) Market risk (a) WmiZEBE

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the
financial risks of changes in interest rates, foreign
currency exchange rates and equity price.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair
value or cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. Bank borrowings bearing fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk but the
exposure to the Group is considered immaterial.
The exposure to cash flow interest rate risk for
the Group’s bank balances and pledge bank
deposits are considered immaterial as at 31
December 2024 and 2023. Accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis is presented for interest rate
risk.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group
is expose to the foreign currency risk arising
from financial instruments which are primarily
denominated in United Stated Dollars (“USD”)
from its ordinary operating activities, these are
not the functional currency of the group entities
to which these transactions relate.

As at each reporting date, foreign currency
denominated financial assets, translated into RMB
closing rates, are as follows:

REBEEBFEAZN X
BE) NINEEERRAE

1R EV B S LR o
T E E

FMERBESHRTIAENA
FEKBSREATISF
MRS R
REFEMEEG B ZI|RITE
BESAREB AT N FEFR
KR EAEBEEERZ
J7 B 30 1 ZE K o FA20244F
K2023F12A31B AEH
RITHEB R EEBIRITHE
HETEZ MR REF X
B TEK AL I
BV KRR RBRE D
T o

Sh 8 Jm g

SN R e 2 B T A (E
18 A B = % &) i R B 1
- AEEEERRERLE
EBEREZAET (X
TDFENERTIAEL
RN R - T AL SN
WIHRZERX BB E
EEENEEE -

REREAH - AINEE
BERRARBETEXRY
BOESREERIIMOT

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT

Trade receivables: B EWFE
- USD -7 1,844 1,011
FIBEERERLAT —S-NEER
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Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity
as at the end of each of the reporting period to
a reasonably possible change in foreign currency
exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s post-tax profit (2023:
post-tax profit) (due to changes in the fair value
of monetary assets) and the Group’s entities.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZF 20244 12 A 31 A1 F/Z
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
(@) Market risk (continued)

5. TRIA#E)
(i) MEEAREEEERKE (&)

(@) mEER(E)
S Jm B ()
PRI ]EHRE
PrEEM AT 2 RAZERT
EHBERT  AEEOH
%57 (20234 : BBHEF))
KRASBEEREINEEX

H 35 & 2% Al B B 8 #O B
E(BEREREENRTE
Increase/
(decrease) in
rate of Impact on
foreign post-tax
currency profit

SMNEEEE = HERBR
E#H(TH) Bz R

At 31 December 2024 720245128318

If RMB weakens against USD MARBHETERE 5 77

If RMB strengthens against USD MARELETHE (5) (77)
At 31 December 2023 7202312 H31H

If RMB weakens against USD M ARBHETHRE 5 43

If RMB strengthens against USD MARKE R ETHE (5) (43)

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should the
need arise.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its investments in equity securities measured at
FVTPL. For equity securities measured at FVTPL
quoted in the Stock Exchange, the management
of the Group manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risks. The Group has appointed a special
team to monitor the price risk and will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

The sensitivity analyses have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the
reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments
had been 5% higher/lower, the post-tax profit
for the year ended 31 December 2024 would
increase/decrease by RMB299,000 (2023:
RMB476,000) as a result of the changes in fair
value of financial assets at FVTPL.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to
its trade and bills receivables, deposits and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements to cover its credit
risks associated with its financial assets.

Pledged bank deposits, bank balances and
bills receivables

The Group expects that there is no significant
credit risk associated with pledged bank deposits
and bank balances since they are substantially
deposited at state-owned banks and other
medium or large-sized listed banks. The credit
risks on bills receivables are limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks. Management
does not expect that there will be any significant
losses from non-performance by these
counterparties.

5, #@ITH

(#%&)

(i) MHEREEEERBER(E)

(a)

(b)

FIREERERAF

s E k(&)
R 1E R
$$@.ﬁ§ FEFA
Bm mk$5%&§ﬁ%
IR A B S R B o Bh O B
Xﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁfﬁ$ﬁu‘|‘)\ﬁ
EHRABLFME A%
@Eﬁﬁ@ﬂ%ﬁﬂTﬁ
MR EHEEEEIRA
P°$$@E§E%ﬂ
FERERRR R
ETERERYEHABR

(G o
S

FRED I IIRBER RS
B HI 2 B AN B 48 B B T

E o

WHEBKRATEZER -
Tt/ T 5% - BIE 2024
FNRANBUEFEZHRRH
% A AR A FER A
BarzemMEERATE
gapmEm mo AR
299,000t (2023F : AR
#476,0007T) °

EER R EFMAE
REBEREE FEWFKIE
TR EE - &@&ﬁ@
JEWRIE - EEMIRITHE
REBRITHBESZEER
S o REBEWERF B EW
KRR EMEERARE
WA B € /& EH
ZEERE -

BB HR{T 75k
BREKEE
AEBEBHEBMRTHE
ANMIRITRERRIA EE KE
ERER - RASKERAX
MO FRRBEERITRE
bR B S KA E i dR7T o
BN F 5 RAART
RUREENEERBRAR -
EEERHRIERZEY
FATELOMEREME
KER °
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Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the
management makes periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables and deposits based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The management believes that there
is no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition.

Trade receivables

Before accepting any new customer, the Group
uses an internal credit scoring system to assess
the potential customer’s credit quality and
defines credit limits by customer. Limits and
scoring attributed to customers are reviewed
once a year. The Group generally allows an
average credit period ranged from 30 to 90
days to its customers. For certain customers, the
Group requires payments to be made partially
before delivery. Other monitoring procedures
are in place to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. The Group only
accepts bills issued or guaranteed by reputable
PRC banks if trade receivables are settled by bills
and therefore the management of the Group
considers the credit risk arising from the endorsed
or discounted bills is insignificant. In this regard,
the management considers that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 AL F/Z

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(&)

(i) HMHEREEEERBER(E)

(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R HRAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZF 20244 12 A31 H I F/Z

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. ®®RMIE#E)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BEEREEEERBE(E)

policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(b) FERBRRERNL(E)

(continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is mainly in the PRC,
which accounted for 99% (2023: 99%) of the
total trade receivables as at 31 December 2024.
The Group has concentration of credit risk as
18% (2023: 9%) and 43% (2023: 39%) of the
total trade receivables was due from the Group’s
largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively within the Chinese Liquor Business
segment and the Faux Leather Chemicals Business
segment as referred to in note 7. In view of the
history of business dealings with the debtors and
the sound collection history of the receivables
due from them, management believes that there
is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding receivable balance due from these
debtors in respect of the receivables which were
individually assessed of Chinese liquor business for
ECL and those which were collectively assessed of
faux leather chemical for ECL saved for the debtor
related to the impaired trade receivable disclosed
below. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits and
credit approvals.

In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade receivables
with significant balances and credit-impaired
individually and/or collectively. Except for items
that are subject to individual evaluation, which
are assessed for impairment individually, the
remaining trade receivables are grouped based
on aging of outstanding balances. Impairment
of RMB6,978,000 (2023: RMB4,061,000)
is recognised during the year. Details of the
guantitative disclosures are set out below in this
note.

ESEWEE)
R2024F12H318 - A%
B[R 2 5D M EERR
FTEEPRFRH HE SF
JE UL SR TE AR BB /999 % (2023
F:99%) - AEBEWEER
EREF THRESE
U SR IB BB H18% (2023
1 9%) }43% (20234 :
39% ) DAl A EKRAEE
MR ARF &M 7R AT
AEEBSBUARALE
LEREKD>ITAHAK
EPHRIB - ERBAH
ZEBBANEBRTRE
EWZEEHEARENR
FR AL ERERA
AEBRBEBTHTERE
EE BN DN R
HERERTGESREE
EEMOATIECE2RER
B9 & U R IR 8 R Uk (B B pE
WZEEBA(TXMEE
HEREE 5 EWFRIEE
BHEB ARSI RIBLEH
ANE FWESEREERR °
AEEREEERR X
EEEEEEHERE—XE
GEEETCEEREENK
EE#Z -

AN REBIRETBHE
EFEBEEXEHAEFTERE
B LEEHREERENE
SRERKZFBEB R %A
BEITHREN G -BREAESE
BHETHEMIER BB
mRAEN B TEZER
RERBEREBEHRZE
BRETHH AFECHE
B E A R #6,978,0007T
(2023%F : AR®4,061,000
T0) ° EEHEMFIFET
AR EE T °
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DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

5.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HiIFF/Z
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

ERMITA @)
HHEREERBEREEK(H)

(ii)

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b) FEERRRBEENMLE)
(continued) N o

Trade receivables (continued) g5 ﬁ;E WT"{’ " (&) .

The following table provides information about T%%}(ﬁljﬁfi\%ﬁﬁ,ﬁma%

the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables & 18 (fR 15 Eﬁ!@jﬁ) R IR

which are assessed on individual and collective W”&%%Eﬁﬁfﬁﬁjﬁ

basis within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). %%Hﬂzﬂlﬁﬁﬁﬁ%mﬁg

Debtors with significant outstanding balances B AR %20\24$12H

with gross carrying amount of RMB109,576,000 318 E‘EE%@?%/\EM

and debtors with gross carrying amount of 10\9'576'0007EE"‘]§*§E

RMB127,513,000 as at 31 December 2024 FEEEHRREEEERSA

(2023: RMB126,884,000 and RMB105,729,000) K #127,513,0007T &) &

were assessed individually and collectively W B (2023_£ﬁ : AE%

respectively. 126,884,0007T &2 A R ¥

105,729,0007T) E 7 5l i

TEBREBNML -
RMB'000
ARBFT
2024 2023
W45 WBE
Gross carrying amount ~ Credit loss allowance Gross camying amount  Credt loss allowance
REAE FEEERR BELE FEREERE

Proportion Proportion  Carrying Proportion Proportion  Carrying

Amount (%)  Amount (%) amount  Amount (%) Amount (%) amount

Category £ € WA e KA KEE 0 28 e  2E % REE
Provision on individual basis  EERIEE R

- Trade receivables -BRRYEE 109,576 46 (3231) 29 106,345 126,884 5 (2269) 18 124615
Provision on a collective basis ~ FEBEEHR

- Trade receivables -EPEWFE 121513 54 (12,692) 100 11481 105729 45 (700 66 98728

Total E 237,089 100 (15923) - 21166 232613 00 (9270) - 2338

2024 Annual Report



5.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(ii)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

(i)

e M RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z 20244 12 431 HIFF/Z
5.

eI E#)
(i) BIXEREEEEREE (&)

(b) EERBRBER(E)

Trade receivables (continued) ’gj < l% U A (‘%j ) e
Analysis of trade receivables for which credit 0 %1?7”%%? RIEE
loss allowance is provided on an individual BRRENE S ER
basis: HEBEREREEZD

7
2024 Closing Balance
2024F B K b4

Gross carrying Credit loss Proportion
amount allowance (%)
Item EE REHAE FEFERE HBI(%)
Trade receivables 1 EC T C VS - - -
Trade receivables 2 B HEWGE2 14,954 437 2.9
Trade receivables 3 B S EWGE3 14,834 437 2.9
Trade receivables 4 B HEWGIEL 9,394 263 2.8
Trade receivables 5 B 5 EUGIES 17,521 551 3.1
Trade receivables 6 B 5 WG 12,369 380 3.1
Trade receivables 7 B S RUGIET 9,896 293 3.0
Trade receivables 8 B HEWGES 10,039 298 3.0
Trade receivables 9 B 5 EUGIAY 8,668 278 3.2
Trade receivables 10 B S RUGAI0 8,076 244 3.0
Trade receivables 11 B HREYGIEN 3,825 50 13

109,576 3,231

2023 Closing Balance
2023F B R A ok

Gross carrying Credit loss Proportion
amount allowance (%)
Item EE FHRBE EFEEEBEEE L f31(%)
Trade receivables 1 B 2R 18,317 288 16
Trade receivables 2 B SRR 18,362 289 16
Trade receivables 3 Y6k 16,642 262 16
Trade receivables 4 B S EKFIEL 13,111 265 20
Trade receivables 5 B 5 WA 16,727 263 16
Trade receivables 6 B S W IE6 9,707 152 16
Trade receivables 7 B 5 W IET 10,712 168 16
Trade receivables 8 B 2 EWIES 7,492 118 16
Trade receivables 9 B 2 WA 7,396 332 45
Trade receivables 10 BHREKIE0 8,418 132 16

126,884 2,269

FIREERARAR —E-EFFHR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z 20244 12 431 HIFF/Z

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. @I E#E)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BBEREEEEREE(Z)
policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b) EERMRNMBELEE)
(continued)
Trade receivables (continued) ESEWEIE (F)
Past due but not impaired
ERMEREE
within 91to over
Current  90days 180 days 180 days Total
B 9HRK 91Z180H HEiE180H @t
At 31 December 2024 2024124318
Expected loss rate (%) TAHEEE (%) 0.28 0.56 1.71 37.63 9.95
Gross carrying amount BEEEARETT)
(RMB’000) 45,753 40,491 8,893 32,376 127,513
Loss allowance (RMB'000) ~ EtERE(ARBTFT) 130 226 152 12,184 12,692
Past due but not impaired
BEaRERRE
within 91 to over
Current ~ 90days  180days 180 days Total
BN EA 90HA 9121808 i#iAE180H @ar
At 31 December 2023 202312 A318
Expected loss rate (%) TRHEEE (%) 191 2.90 10.96 35.36 6.62
Gross carrying amount wEREARETT)
(RMB’000) 46,674 38,696 9,070 11,289 105,729
Loss allowance (RMB'000) ~ ESERE (ARB TIT) 892 1,123 994 3,992 7,001

The estimated expected loss rate are estimated
based on default rates over the expected life of
the debtors within the same industry and similar
risk characteristics and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without
under cost or effort.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HIFF/Z

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. @I AE#E)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BXERABREEEEREEE)
policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b) EERRNEERG(E)
(continued)

EZEWNE (&)
REE M A EEE R &Y

Trade receivables (continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following categories:

AFHEBREA TR -

Internal Trade and bills
credit rating Description receivables Other financial assets
g2 EKE

AMEETR L REWRE HiteWEE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL - 12-month ECL
does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired

el RHZUFREORRE BYEEMAHEEE 2HRHEEER REABHEERR

—YBIFEERE

Doubtful There have been significant increase in credit risk  Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL - not
since initial recognition through information not credit-impaired  credit-impaired
developed internally or external sources

& BAARAENEERIDBER  FERRE 2HRHEEER rHRSEERR
BIRHERAREZE N —~VHEERE —~VHEERE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired

B BEBBEREEREENE rHRHEEERE rHRYEERR

—FERE —EERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtorisin ~ Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

38 BEBBRERARNRENNBRS A% CEMHEEHLE ERMEEELE
B - R R AT R

FIBEERARAR —EEFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HiIFF/Z

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. E@IT A #)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BHEREEEERKE(E)
policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b) EERMRNMBELEE)
(continued)

Trade receivables (continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures
of the Group’s financial assets which are subject

EZEWNIE ()
TRANAEEEREE
MEERR HARXRE

to ECL assessment; HEEEEFT -
As at 31 December 2024 A2024%F12H31H
Gross
Internal credit carrying
rating 12-month or lifetime ECL amount
AP EEFTR NRERRZHEHREEESE MR
RMB'000
AR¥®T
Financial assets
CREE
Trade receivables (note 21)  Low risk (note (a)) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 74,694
B SRR (M3E21) EER (FE) FHEMEEEE (UIEEERE)
Doubtful (note (a)) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 140,731
IR (M 3F@) 2 HEHEEFEE (YIEEERE)
Loss (note (b)) Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 21,664
&8 (M 5EDb)) > HEHEEBRE(EERE)
Bills receivables (note 21) Low risk (note (a)) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 20,108
FEW =& (F5E21) K&k (3% () ZHEMEEEE (UIEEERE)
Deposits and other Low risk (note (c)) 12-month ECL 482
receivables (note 22)
Be REMERRIE RREER (FF3EC) 12ERBEEEEE
(FF7E22)
Cash and bank balances Low risk 12-month ECL 54,726
(note 24)
Re RIRTTHE (E24) EER 128 ABEEEEE
Pledged bank deposits Low risk 12-month ECL 3,475
(note 24)
BEEPRITER(M24) EER REAEHREEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRNE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

5. ®®TIT A&

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z 20244 12 431 HIFF/Z

(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BBEREEEEREE(Z)
policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b) EERMRNMBESEE)
(continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

ESEWIE(E)
#2023F12 A31H

Gross
carrying
Internal credit rating  12-month or lifetime ECL amount
MRS &R AR REAREHEREEEE faRRmEE
RMB’000
ARBTTT
Financial assets
tREE
Trade receivables (note 21)  Low risk (note (a)) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 173,558
B SRUGE (f321) KRR (F3Ea) FHHEREEEE LEEERE)
Doubtful (note (a)) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 57,086
R (Fit5H@)) FHHEBEEEE LFEERE)
Loss (note (b)) Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 1,969
518 (Mt 3Hb)) FHRBEEEER (EERIE)
Bills receivables (note 21) Low risk (note (a)) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 18,694
W = 5% (Bist21) 1R B (3T () FHEREEEE LIEEERE)
Deposits and other Low risk (note (c)) 12-month ECL 142
receivables (note 22)
we REMEKTIE BB (B () REAERBREEER
(H522)
Cash and bank balances Low risk 12-month ECL 48,952
(note 24)
Re kT (ME4) ERR REAEREEER
Pledged bank deposits Low risk 12-month ECL 4,300

(note 24)
BEBRTER(ME24) ERR

REAEHREEER

FIREERARAR —E-EFFHR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 AL F/Z

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(9]

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(continued)
Notes:

(@  For trade and bills receivables, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL.

(b)  The management believes a higher expected
credit loss rate is necessary in respect of this trade
receivable as it has been past due for over two
years.

() For the purposes of internal credit risk management,
the Group uses the latest available financial and
other information about the debtors to assess
whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition. As at 31 December 2024 and
2023, these balances are either not past due or do
not have fixed repayment.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group
will not be able to meet its obligations associated
with its financial liabilities that are settled by
delivering cash or another financial asset. The
Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of
settlement of trade payables and its financing
obligations, and also in respect of its cash
flows management. The Group’s objective is to
maintain an appropriate level of liquid assets and
committed lines of funding to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

Management monitors the cash flows forecasts
of the Group in meeting its liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HIFF/Z
5. EMTI A%

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(9]

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities
with agreed repayment periods. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group may be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment
on demand clause are included in the earliest
time band regardless of the probability of the
banks choosing to exercise their rights. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest
rate curves at the end of the reporting period.
The contractual maturity is based on the earliest
date on which the Group may be required to pay.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HiIFF/Z
5. ERTI A%

5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BHEREEEERKE(E)
policies (continued)
(¢) Liquidity risk (continued) (0 RBELRARE)
Information of Supplier Finance Arrangements BAREEHELHZE
#

31/12/2024 31/12/2023 1/1/2023
142024F R2023% R2023%
12A31H 12A31H 1A1H
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBFT AREFT

Carrying amount of the BATEENCREE
financial liabilities that are ~ FREEX HEERE
subject to supplier finance ~ ZHER
arrangements
Presented as part of “Trade 25| A[E FEMFIER
and bills payables” ANES SVl 28,696 12,362 N/A N

31/12/2024 31/12/2023 1/12/2023
1420245F 120235 720235
12A31H 12A31H 1H1H

Days X Days X Days X

Range of payment due dates {7 %/ 2 B & &
For liabilities presented as part Ft25 A& 5 B 78

of “Trade and bills payables’  RENFE| 2 —H5H

ZEEmE

— Liabilities that are part —BREERRE L

of supplier finance —Brz8% 0to 180

arrangements 0Z180 N/A T iE A N/A 13
- Comparable trade payables —TEBRHEERER

that are not part of supplier  HE—HD ZHEEES 0to 60

finance arrangements BB 0Z60 N/A T3 N/A T

Changes in liabilities that are subject to supplier
finance arrangements are primarily attributable
to additions resulting from purchases of goods
and subsequent cash settlements. There were
no other material non-cash changes in these

liabilities.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z 20244 12 431 HIFF/Z

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. SMI A%
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BBEREEEEREE(Z)
policies (continued)
(¢) Liquidity risk (continued) (0 w"RBELRAMK(EZ)
Information of Supplier Finance Arrangements BEAREEHRELHZE
(continued) # (&)
Weight
average Ondemand Over 1year Over2 years Total Total
effective ~ orwithin  and within  and within undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years Syears  cash flows amount

nETHE  RERE  BEIFE  BEEE ARREE

BRA®  MER MER RSER REME  AREE
%  RVBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RWBOO0  RMBO00
% ARETL ARBTL ARETR ARETR ARETR

At 31 December 2024 R2024512831H
Non-derivative financial abiftis ~ FEATA SR
Trade and bills payables BARMNTERENRE - 70,282 - - 70,282 70,282
Other payables and accruals At A RES B - 13,862 - - 13,862 13,862
Amounts due to related companies  [E (B AIFUE - 463 - - 463 463
Bank borrowings HifeE 298 65,528 - - 65,528 64,500
150,135 - - 150,135 149,107
At 31 Decerber 2023 20035127318
Non-derivative financial abilites ~ 3EAT4 2 BEE
Trade and bils payables BSRATERERSR - 51,538 - - 51,538 51,538
Other payables and accruals AT EREER - 12,131 - - 12,131 12131
Amounts due to related companies MBI L E5E - 1453 - - 1453 1453
Bank borrowings RiTEE 369 2748 - - 2748 25,000
92,550 - - 92,550 90,122

FEIMELERERAT —B-NEFH 117
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 AL F/Z
5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. E@IT A #)
(iii) Fair value of financial instruments (i) ETRTENAFE
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and HEESMEELLFETEZ
financial liabilities that are measured at fair FrEFHEERTHEREZ
value on a recurring basis AS/-]
The Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value AEEeREERNSMERR
at the end of each reporting period. In estimating the EAFEFE REFTATFE
fair value, the Group uses market-observable data B AREBEFERAE2mEA
to the extent it is available. The following table gives BIRER - TRIEHRBHE WM
information about how the fair values of these financial ErZEemEEs A AFEZ
assets are determined. Ext o
Fair value hierarchy: NTERR
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E— <t} E=8/ mst
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTFT ARETT ARBTT
As at 31 December 2024  2024%12H31H
Financial assets at FVTPL ~ E QA FPE AEBREHN
CREE
Listed equity securities ETRAFES 5,972 - - 5,972
Financial assets at FVTOCI #®AFEFAHEME
ARANESREE
Bills receivables (note) FEMZ= IR (FTeE) - 20,108 - 20,108
As at 31 December 2023  12023%12H31H
Financial assets at FVTPL A FEFABZH
CRMEE
Listed equity securities FTRARE A 9,522 - - 9,522
Financial assets at FVTOCI AP EHAHMBZ
ARANEREE
Bills receivables (note) e 1% (P3T) - 18,694 - 18,694

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3
during the year.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report

FR-E—F FREE=R
Z [ e o



—
—

=

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(iii) Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis (continued)

Note:

The fair values of bills receivables at FVTOCI included in level 2
category have been determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash flow analysis,
with the most significant observable input being the discount
rate that reflects the credit risk of counterparties. The higher the
discount rate, the lower the fair value is. Due to the short-term
maturities of the bills and the relatively low discount rates, fair
values approximated the principal amounts of the bills.

The management considers that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost recognised in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values
due to their short-term maturities.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce
the cost of capital. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt
which includes amounts due to related companies and bank
borrowings as disclosed in notes 28 and 29, net of bank
balances and cash, pledged bank deposits and total equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and retained earnings.

Gearing ratio

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. The ratio is calculated based on
net debt and total equity.
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AEBEREANBRER/BRERK
B REMERTAE AT KM -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HiIFF/Z

6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Gearing ratio (continued)

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as

follows:

EXRERER @)
EXEELRE)

BERRNEERBL XM

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Amounts due to related companies FE S RAE N B F08 463 1,453
Bank borrowings RITEE 64,500 25,000
64,963 26,453
Less: Bank balances and cash B IRITESRERS (54,726) (48,952)
Pledged bank deposits EEFRITER (3,475) (4,300)
Net debt B F5E 6,762 (26,799)
Total equity arE 668,744 638,586
Gearing ratio BEEABLE 1.01 N/ATT 3 R

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION WA KD EER

Revenue
(a) Analysis of revenue

WA
(@) WAZH

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®F ARETIT
Revenue from contracts with REREAHZWA
customers (note): (MF5E) -
Recognised on a point in time basis R — 5[] 2 A7
Sales of faux leather chemicals HEALR(LEM 262,495 262,546
Sales of Chinese baijiu HEB® 303,980 308,026
566,475 570,572

Note: All goods are sold to distributors.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z
REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
Revenue (continued)
(b) Performance obligations for contracts with

customers and revenue recognition policies
Manuftacturing and sales of faux leather chemicals
and Chinese baijiu

Revenue from sales of faux leather chemicals and
Chinese baijiu are recognised when control of the
goods has transferred, being when the goods have
been shipped to the customer’s specific location
(delivery). Following the delivery, the customer has full
discretion over the manner of distribution and price to
sell the goods, has the primary responsibility on selling
the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss
in relation to the goods.

The Group’s obligations to provide a refund for
faulty products are under the standard warranty
terms. Accumulated experience is used to estimate
such returns at the time of sale. It is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur. Therefore, no refund liability
for goods return was recognised. The validity of this
assumption and estimate is reassessed at each reporting
date.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contract with
customers

The Group has applied the practical expedient under
IFRS 15 so that transaction price allocated to unsatisfied
performance obligations under contracts for sales
of faux leather chemicals and Chinese baijiu are not
disclosed as such contracts have an original expected
duration of one year or less.

Operating segment information

The Group’s most senior executive management has been
identified as the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”)
who reviews the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. Segment information
reported to the Board, being the CODM, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance,
focuses on the types of goods or services delivered or
provided. This is also the basis upon which the Group is
organised and managed.

WAR 7 B&BE R ()

WA (&)

b)) EFEHZEBHEXLRKAE
BB
FEREEANTBEERRH
i
HEATIELE2RRABEDK
ARERWZEFHEER (BEMR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2024 %F 12 431 HI1FFE
7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARZSHER (&)

(continued)

Operating segment information (continued) resBER(E)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group was BE2024F12ANALFE  A%E

principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of faux TERFERENHEEATIELSER

leather chemicals and engaging in sales of Chinese baijiu. ERZHEBBERY - AKREREE

The Group’s reportable and operating segments for the years 2024% K2023F12A3MB L FEMNZE

ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: WRALDEWT -

(@) Faux leather chemicals — manufacturing and sales @ AIF(BR-RERHEEA
of faux leather chemicals (“Faux Leather Chemicals TEEEm(AIELER
Business”) %)

(b)  Chinese liquor business — production and sales of wine (b) EI /@%ﬂ"x HENREHEEEAE
products, including Chinese baijiu (“Chinese Liquor CBERBE(EERSED
Business”)

No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at WELEDMEAAERAEE 2

the above reportable segments of the Group. Lt 2o EL -

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and ATRASERZHRIEEDHED

results by reportable and operating segments: HARRE D -

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE2024F12A318LFE

Faux Leather Chinese

Chemicals Liquor
Business Business Consolidated

AIE
EEmEH NS me
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR®T R ARBT R
SEGMENT REVENUE 7 ERA

External sales SNEPEHE 262,495 303,980 566,475

Segment profit 7 B A 14,270 29,669 43,939

Other income H At e A 4,269

Other gains and losses, net ,J’Mﬂl s REEFE 39

Share of result of an associate D AEFE R A EE (79)

Loss on disposal of financial assets &% AFEFFABRZ

at FVTPL TREECER (1,018)

Loss on fair value change of BATESABZN SR

financial assets at FVTPL BEATEEZHERE (969)

Finance costs BITSRAR (1,400)

Unallocated corporate expenses KA EEERT (9,277)

Group’s profit before tax AEE 2 BRBATE T 35,504

1 2 2 DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z 20244 12 431 HIFF/Z

Operating segment information (continued)

7. WARZEHER &)

REDWER(F)

Year ended 31 December 2023 BZE2023F12A3MBLFE
Faux Leather Chinese
Chemicals Liquor
Business Business Consolidated
ALE
LB mER ENES Be
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREFTT AREFTT
SEGMENT REVENUE o EUA
External sales HNEPEHE 262,546 308,026 570,572
Segment profit paR= iyl 21,505 23,407 44,912
Other income Hapdg A 3,418
Other gains and losses, net HihWoas R E BT 67
Share of result of an associate DR L N B EE (82)
Gain on disposal of financial HERRAFEFABRL
assets at FVTPL TEEE 2 W 4,032
Loss on fair value change of BATEGSABGZN SR
financial assets at FVTPL BEANTEEZYER (2,181)
Finance costs B RS R AR (688)
Unallocated corporate expenses K2 e (bR % (13,841)
Group’s profit before tax REE 2 BB AR 35,637
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e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HiIFF/Z
7.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Operating segment information (continued)

7.

WAR D EBER (&)

REDWER(F)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and NTAREEZERDHBEIDWEE
liabilities by reportable segments: E=Li=ba it

2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETIT

Assets BE
Faux Leather Chemicals Business ANILEBERER 400,275 314,955
Chinese Liquor Business =HE 361,235 358,525
Total segment assets DERE EBE 761,510 673,480
Unallocated corporate assets Ao EERE 66,174 64,111
Consolidated total assets LAEBERTE 827,684 737,591
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREEF T ARBEFIT

Liabilities BE
Faux Leather Chemicals Business AT ELERERK 141,054 83,775
Chinese Liquor Business =M= 2,553 1,665
Total segment liabilities DEfBEEEE 143,607 85,440
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOBRGCEARE 15,333 13,565
Consolidated total liabilities LEBERRE 158,940 99,005

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z

WAR 7 B&BE R ()

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Operating segment information (continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

—  The material accounting policies of the operating
segments are the same as the Group’s material
accounting policies described in note 3. Segment profit
represents the profit earned by each segment without
allocation of other income, other gains and losses, net,
share of result of an associate, (loss)/gain on disposal
of financial assets at FVTPL, loss on fair value change of
financial assets at FVTPL, finance costs and unallocated
corporate expenses.

— all assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than interest in an associate, financial assets at FVTPL
and corporate assets.

— all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than corporate liabilities.

7.

KEIWER(E)

EJE

oif

ROHERIR LD BEERD B

KE DB E RS ET R B
uEBPELZlK;EKIE’JEﬁAEJrE&”*
FRR) 23 #B i A 35 & 2 & BRER
B A - PR D BECE A A -
HipYoes 2 B 1BF 5 - D168
BRBEE  HEEAFER

ABHmZEMEEZ (B1B),/
Wt - BAFEFABENE
MEERATEZBER MK
AR AR DBLEERA

B — R A MBS - 3R
ATEHANARZSREER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2024 %F 12 431 HI1FFE
7. WARZHER &)

7.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Operating segment information (continued)

Other segment information

n

Faux leather

Chinese liquor

chemicals business Total
AIELREm =P #mst
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARETF T ARETR
Year ended 31 December 2024  # Z£2024F12831A LFE
Capital expenditure (note (a)) BARR (Mi@) 92,301 35,000 127,301
Depreciation of property, MmE - BERRBRE
plant and equipment 11,584 - 11,584
Depreciation of right-of-use assets £ & ETE 607 486 1,093
Allowance for expected credit BHEEEEREFSR
losses, net 6,016 962 6,978
Selling and distribution expenses ~ $H%& 5 $55 = 15,187 167,194 182,381
Research and development Ui
expenses 8,977 - 8,977
Faux leather Chinese liquor
chemicals business Total
AIE(Bm HEEY @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETF T AREF T ARETFTT
Year ended 31 December 2023  # Z2023F 128310 LFE
Capital expenditure (note (a)) EARY (@) 14,983 - 14,983
Depreciation of property, mE - BERREBRE
plant and equipment 9,610 - 9,610
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {# FIEBENE 606 - 606
Allowance for expected credit BHEEBREBTR
losses, net 2,323 1,738 4,061
Selling and distribution expenses  $H& &7 #HF X 12,920 150,227 163,147
Research and development RS
expenses 9,725 - 9,725
Note: BT -

(@)  Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and

equipment and right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z 20244 12 431 HIFF/Z

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are principally in the PRC and all its
non-current assets are situated in the PRC.

The Group’s revenue is derived from the PRC and overseas
(i.e. Mexico, Turkey and Vietnam) based on the location of
goods delivered, as follows:

7.

WAR D EBER (&)

IR E R

AEETENFTEEE BEMAFE
MBBEEAMNHE -
AEBEBTELEIHN (AIR2EE - =
BHENBE) EENBAZARINE
MRS

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BILEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBFIT
The PRC A 561,737 563,764
Overseas PRI 4,738 6,308
566,475 570,572

Information about major customer ERFXEEFNEHR

There is no customer contributing individually over 10% of
the Group’s revenue during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

H Z20244 K2023%F 128318 IFF
B UEBERFEBAREEWASTE
B10% o

FIREERARAR —E-EFFHR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2024 %F 12 431 HI1FFE
8. OTHER INCOME 8. HAWA

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BILEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®ETF T

Bank interest income RITHA S WA 103 182
Government grants (note) B Bh (i aE) 3,681 2,772
Sundry income MBI A 485 464
4,269 3,418

Note: Government grants represent various forms of subsidies BT B 48 B HE R B3 05 U A% B 1A AR &=
granted to the Group by the local government BR#mSEEAMBR - BRMHE
authorities in the PRC for compensation of expenses é%@é%ﬁ‘q%ﬁﬁ;%%ﬁ@—ﬁﬁ]
incurred by the Group. These grants are generally REB X - THERT R KK

Bt E A B Y I B TR SRR B ©

made for business support and awarded to enterprises
HSINEss SUPP . P 1 52,5 7 O R TR T

on a discretionary basis. The Group also received

HAREIE
government grants in respect of its investments
in the PRC. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to these grants.
9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 9. HMkEFEREE FEEE
Year ended 31 December
BZ12831BLLEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBF ARETT

(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant HEWE - FE M EEZ

and equipment (E18),Wax (2 6
Exchange gain, net P 5 Wz 5 58 41 61
39 67

1 2 8 DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HIFF/Z

10. FINANCE COSTS

10. BA#ERK A

Year ended 31 December

BZ1N2A3MBLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTF ARBTT
Interest on bank borrowings RITBEZFE 1,400 688

11. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Profit before tax is arrived at after charging:

1. BRBEADEF

BRAAE M TR IA TS IRER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3MBLEE
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBFT
Auditor’s remuneration ZEET & 1,008 810
Cost of materials used in production RUEM B 170,178 175,005
Cost of liquor purchased for resell AEE TR BB R R 102,381 130,132
Written off of inventories (included in FEME GFAEERA)
cost of inventories sold) (note) (B 5E) - 13,647
Depreciation: e :
— Depreciation of property, plant and —WE  WELRERETE
equipment included in: BETE
— Cost of sales — BRI 7,610 6,584
— Administrative and general expenses ~ —f{TE K —A&F X 3,484 3,019
— Selling and distribution expenses —HERDHEAX 490 7
11,584 9,610
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets —ERAREENE 1,093 606
12,677 10,216
Less: amount included in cost of sales & : 5T ASHE K AR FIE (7,610) (6,584)
5,067 3,632
FEIBXEEZERERLAT —ZT-HOFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 AL F/Z

11. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 1. BRBANEF (&)
Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBETTT

Directors’ remuneration = EH 1,580 1,626
Staff costs (excluding directors’ BINA(TBRIEESHM)
remuneration)
— wages, salaries, allowances and bonus —T & - & ~ 2B RIEA
Included in: BIETE
— Cost of sales —HER AR 12,656 12,027
— Administrative and general expenses ~ —f{TE & —AZF X 13,122 13,596
— Selling and distribution expenses —HE R HAX 3,740 3,659
29,518 29,282
— contributions to retirement benefits —RIREFIFT K
schemes, included in: BIEE
— Cost of sales —HER AR 1,821 1,747
— Administrative and general expenses ~ —fTEBU & —f&F X 1,061 1,564
— Selling and distribution expenses —HE RS HFAX 307 268
3,189 3,579
32,707 32,861
Less: amounts included in cost of sales & : 5T A S5E R A H) TRIE (14,477) (13,774)
18,230 19,087

Advertising expenses (included in selling E&EFIS (FEAEE K& iERI)
and distribution expenses) 162,362 148,099

Research and development expenses e Gt ATTERE —MRFASX)
(included in administrative and general

expenses) 8,977 9,725
Expenses for short-term lease MEHERE 1,143 3,160
Note: The inventories of approximately RMB1,578,000 are written MieE 8 22023F 12A31AEFE - FEYD

off due to obsolescence, and approximately RMB12,069,000 AR #1,578,0007 A PR & i T i 55 -
are measured at net realisable value during the year ended 31 K49 A R ¥12,069,0007T 3% 7] # 17
December 2023. Bt 2 -

1 3 O DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

12. FiEHiRAX

Year ended 31 December

BZ1N2A3MBLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®ETF T
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) B EATET ([REMREH 1)
— Current income tax —BNEAFR1E 6,572 11,599
Deferred tax (note 30) IR TE (B FE30) (1,083) (836)
Total tax charge for the year FABIES LB 5,489 10,763

The PRC

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of its
operations in the PRC was calculated at tax rate of 25% on
the assessable profits for both years, based on the existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof,
except as described below.

Zhejiang Sunlight Material Technology Co., Ltd. is approved
as “high and new technology enterprise” and accordingly, it
is subject to a reduced preferential corporate income tax rate
of 15% from 8 December 2023 to 7 December 2026 for the
reporting period.

Cayman Islands, BVI and Hong Kong

No provision for taxation has been recognised for companies
incorporated in the Cayman Islands, BVI and Hong Kong as
they are not subject to any tax during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Withholding Tax in Mainland China (“WHT”)
According to the New Corporate Income Tax Law (“New
EIT Law”), distribution of profits earned by companies in
Mainland China since 1 January 2008 to foreign investors is
subject to withholding tax of 5% or 10%, depending on the
country of incorporation of the foreign investors, upon the
distribution of profits to overseas incorporated immediate
holding companies.

FE

BRTatESN  RIBEBRITEN RER
AEIED  AEERERTREBLD
TSR E DA A FE R ER
T MR E25%5T 8 -

T REFTVREIEBER A AEF
BlEIEmeZE] At R E
A A A2023F12 A8 E2026%F12
A7EAIZEERCEMBHREHE
15%8 7

MERE XBEXHEREE
RASHS RBRZBESRELE
RS B9 A R I S HE R IR B AR - R
HRZE R AN E E2024% }2023F
12A318 EFERBAGH -

FRE it FE AR ([ FEH08E )
BIBEEMGIE ((HEEMRER
DD ERRIEINEMAK S B BT
R R B2 IR RN E - PR AR B
2008F 1 A1 H B RINEIRE & 5K AT
B8 BN Y % A B 3R5%3810% H) Bt K 45
MIBIEL - 18T ZINE IR E B T
SMFTEBIRME ©

FIREERARAR —E-EFFHR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 AL F/Z

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 12.

Withholding Tax in Mainland China (“WHT”)
(continued)
As at 31 December 2024, the retained earnings of the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries not yet remitted to holding
company incorporated outside of the PRC, for which no
deferred income tax liability had been provided, were
approximately RMB166,104,000 (2023: RMB133,987,000).
For this unrecognised amount, the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to
the profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

FrEBRA<#®)
Bl A FRABE ([FEMBD) (&)

%2024$12H31E| - N & A BB
A A M R BE TR B SR AN T K

_LE’]T Brm e RE &R (I &5
HFIREEEHMERAER O/AR

166,104,000 (2023F : AR
133,987,0007T) ° FhiZ R IER SR M
T AEEEMIEH TR E 2D
REFRE - BE M ERRAIREE R T8
BERETSEMD -

FAMMEHAS AT RS EER
fth 2> T Us 2 2% Pk BR A A mf'J%ﬁEEZZD
T~

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31HLEE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBTT
Profit before tax B 5t B A 35,504 35,637
Tax at applicable tax rate applicable to  ¥% 3@ Fl /A #E 8 sl AR 5 FI A
profits in the jurisdiction concerned ERATEGTENNIE 9,485 9,157
Tax effect of share of result of an B —MEBE AR EENRG
associate T 20 20
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AT FAFLFE X I FL IS =2 &
tax purposes 1,252 5,559
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax ~ HEREFHR WM AN TR IEZE
purposes (3,246) (1,581)
Effect attributable to the additional 57 B A B R AN AR A MO RELAI
qualified tax deduction relating to BERRERRNZE
research and development costs (1,551) (1,785)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses AERBMIEEENTBEE 823 860
Tax concession IR & (1,294) (1,467)
5,489 10,763

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z 20244 12 431 HIFF/Z

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to the directors of the
Company (including emoluments for services as employees/
directors of the Group prior to becoming the directors of
the Company) by entities comprising the Group during both
years are as follows:

13. EEM <
MEEENAEBRETEEE ke
NARREENB G (BEK AL
REEFEANEEES EENR
) i

Year ended 31 December 2024

HZ04512A31ALEE
Salaries,
allowance Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonus  contribution Total
e 2R BIRGHE
ExHe REVETN BETA i3 @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AR¥TR ARETR ARETR AR¥ETR
Executive directors: BITES:
Mr. Chen Hua RELE - 516 - 14 530
Mr. Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel WAL - 365 - 14 379
Mr. Sun Jingang RemxE - - - - -
Mr. Cheung Ka Wai R E K E (R20245
(appointed on 31 July 2024) TA3NBEZ) - 92 - 5 97
Mr. Tse Chun Chung MERLE
(resigned on 31 July 2024) (R202457A31BEHE) - 128 - 6 134
Independent non-executive BUKBTES:
directors:
Mr. Au Hei Ching BEELE 110 - - - 110
Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace FHERLE 110 - - - 110
Ms. Zhou Xiaochun A%ERT 110 - - - 110
Mr. Huang Zhenming BRI %4 (R202451 A
(appointed on 24 January 2024)  4BEZ) 110 - - - 110
Mr. Zheng Yu BFrk
(resigned on 24 January 2024) (F2024%1R24BEHT) - - - - -
440 1,101 - 39 1,580

FIRKERERAT —g-mEsg |33
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HiIFF/Z
13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

13. EEM < (#®)

Year ended 31 December 2023

BROBENANBLER
Salaries,
allowance Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonus  contribution Total
Gt 2K RIRGHE
B30e  REDET Mg 1 @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARBTR ARETR ARET:
Executive directors: BITES:
Mr. Chen Hua ReERE - 513 - 9 522
Mr. Lam Kam Kong Nathaniel LS ke - 216 - 12 228
Mr. Sun Jingang REmxE - - - - -
Mr. Tse Chun Chung MERLE
(resigned on 31 July 2024) (1020247 A31HEHT) - 216 - 12 28
Mr. Gu Jianguo ERALE
(resigned on 3 March 2023) (R2023F3A3REHT) - 70 - - 70
Ms. Zhu Jiangin REELT
(resigned on 3 March 2023) (R2023F3A3R &) - 65 - - 65
Independent non-executive BUkHTES:
directors:
Mr. Au Hei Ching BERLL 108 - - - 108
Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace FElEE 108 - - - 108
Ms. Zhou Xiaochun BRETL 108 - - - 108
Mr. Zheng Yu BFik
(resigned on 24 January 2024) (1020241 A24BEHT) 108 - - - 108
Mr. Ho Ho Tung Armen fEREE
(resigned on 1 October 2023) (R2023F10R1BBHT) 81 - - - 81
513 1,080 - 33 1,626
Note: BT -

(i) During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the

position of chief executive officer was vacant.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services as directors of the Company.

During the reporting period, there were no amounts paid or
payable by the Group to the directors or any of the highest
paid individuals set out in note 14 as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office. There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during both
years.

EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID

EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees included 1 (2023: 2)
executive director of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024. The emoluments of the remaining 4 (2023:
3) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company are as follows:

13. EEM < (#®)

FIRITESNME TR P RRER
AAEREARF RAEEEBH MR
%o EXPIRBUIFMTESTNOME
FTEPRBERERRANEEREN

AR

RBEHA - AEB W ERESF LM

AEVAPTE R &R = #

A LIk E

RIS DA S AN A AN S5 [ B 1 22
B KBER AR - RMEFEARESE
EREXFABRET M ZHE

14. AEESFNESENHE

HZE2024F12A31HILFEN R L&
= E R 8 21514 (2023F : 28%) K
NAIITESE - 2 4% (2023F : 3
B)EARARAESTSIHEZRITHRAED
EaFMEENMEOT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind ~ ¥& ~ 288 R E W@ T 2,091 1,871
Contributions to retirement benefits RREFIET B
schemes 103 35
2,194 1,906

The number of remaining highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company whose
emoluments fell within the following bands is as follows:

FNBRATHENSG NIEARRE
EFRRSTRAENRSFHIMER A

gune

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31ALLEE
2024 2023
202445 20234
Nil to HK$1,000,000, equivalent to £ Z 1,000,000 T
RMB916,000 (2023: RMB900,000) (FBE R ARE916,0007T)
(20234 : AR #¥900,0007T) 4 3
FIMEERERAT —B-MEEH
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZF 20244 12 A 31 A1 F/Z

15. DIVIDEND 15.
No dividend was paid, declared or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during the year ended 2024,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2023: RMB Nil).

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE 16.
The calculation of the basic earnings per share during the
period is based on the profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately RMB30,030,000
(2023: profit of RMB19,451,000) and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the period of
720,000,000 (2023: 473,142,857).

BB
REE2024F |FFE - WERARQF]
LB - BIREFH IR
B BREBRARMNEERIKE
A% B (20235 : AREZ L) -

BRER
HANERERZMNIBRBERAGHES
A B4 F i A 49 A R #30,030,000
7T (20234 : & F| A R #19,451,000
L) REBAEBEE BHITRENE
15 #(720,000,0000% (20234
473,142,857R%) &t & -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318ILEE

2024 2023
20245 20234

Profit for the year attributable to owners 22 BB A JFE 15 F A% |
of the Company (RMB’000) (AR®TFTT) 30,030 19,451

Weighted average number of ordinary 38 I hN4E F 15 £ (FA%)

shares ("000) 720,000 473,143
Basic earnings per share (RMB cents) FREXABF(ARED) 417 4.11

No diluted earnings per share for both 2024 and 2023 were
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HIFF/Z
17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. Y% - BERRZE

Furniture,
fixtures Construction
and office Plant and Motor in progress
Buildings ~ equipment  machinery vehicles (Note 2) Total
G5B BER fRIR
BT RBLRG #fE RE (&) @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETRT  ARETR  ARETR
Cost HA
At 1 January 2023 RNBEIR1E 89,710 2,768 60,330 3528 8,256 164,592
Additions E - 223 5539 115 9,106 14,983
Transfer ay - 250 958 - (1,208) -
Disposals e - - 97 (487) - (584)
At 31 December 2023 and RMOBENANER

1 January 2024 4E1R1H 89,710 3241 66,730 3,156 16,154 178,991
Additions (Note 1) AGEL)) 26,655 53 2941 - 62,652 92,301
Transfer @y - - 17,807 - (17.807) -
Disposals HE - (17) (169) - - (185)
At 31 December 2024 20245127318 116,365 3211 87,310 3,156 60,999 211,107
Accumulated depreciation ZitE
At 1 January 2023 202351818 16,276 2,038 36,338 1433 - 56,085
Charge for the year ERTH 4531 33 4304 45) - 9,610
Disposals e - - 93) (462) - (555)
At 31 December 2023 and 0235124318 )

1 January 2024 202451818 20,807 2,361 40,549 1423 - 65,140
Charge for the year i 5,440 31 5,390 443 - 11,584
Disposals HE - (17) (48) - - (65)
At 31 December 2024 0245128318 26,247 2,655 45,891 1,866 - 76,659
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 December 2024 20245127318 90,118 622 41,49 1,290 60,999 194,448
At 31 December 2023 #2023%E12A4318 68,903 880 26,181 1,733 16,154 113,851

M2024F 1283180 - HH AR
19,210,000 7T (20234 : AR
20,849,0007T) M FE L IEN EiE

As at 31 December 2024, the buildings of approximately
RMB19,210,000 (2023: RMB20,849,000) were pledged to
bank for bills payables (Note 25) and bank borrowings (Note

29). (Hff5E25) RIRTTIE B (1 £29) K37
TIRIT ©
FEREZRERAT —2-mEsg |37/
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 AL F/Z
17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

18.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes:

1.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
acquired office property units in the PRC for approximately
RMB26,655,000. The land use right of the purchased property
units is for 50 years until 2053. The fair value of the leasehold
land and buildings portions at the date of purchase could not be
reliably determined, hence the entire purchase consideration is
recognised as cost of the “Building” class of property, plant and
equipment.

At 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the construction
in progress of approximately RMB60,999,000 (2023:
RMB16,154,000) is related to costs incurred for the construction
and installation of plant and machinery for the Group’s Faux
Leather Chemicals Business. The construction in progress
is transferred to plant and machinery after inspection and
acceptance by the relevant PRC government departments.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

17. W%  BERRE#E)

B A -

1.

H E2024F12A31HLEFE K
EERTEKETEEHNARE
26,655,000 K B FIEME BN - T
BB BN R+ 1 F A R A50
FOEZE20053F -REEHH - HE
T MAEF D 2 R FERER SEE
T B EEBEHESERAME
B R R R [ F R ©

M2024%F128318 - AR TR EE
495 AR 1#60,999,0007T (20234 : A
R #16,154,0007T) * ABREANRAKE
EATEE2REBHOREEERE
MERETEMEENRA -FEET
FR A8 B AR B BT 20 P B Uk 14 82 A R
B RN A o

18. FHEEE

Leased Land use
property rights Total
HEME 5 A Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT AREFTT
Cost B
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 120231418  2023F

2023 and 1 January 2024 12A318 %2024F1 518 - 30,313 30,313
Additions =Y 35,000 - 35,000
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12A318 35,000 30,313 65,313
Accumulated depreciation RIHE
At 1 January 2023 72023%1A1H - 4,031 4,031
Charge for the year FRX M - 606 606
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F12A318 K&

1 January 2024 20241818 - 4,637 4,637
Charge for the year FRXH 486 607 1,093
At 31 December 2024 12024F12A31H 486 5,244 5,730
Net carrying amount fREFE
At 31 December 2024 M2024F12A31H 34,514 25,069 59,583
At 31 December 2023 #2023F12A31H - 25,676 25,676

2024 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 18. EAREEE #)

The right-of-use assets are land use rights located in the PRC
which are under medium-term lease. The lease contracts
were entered into for a fixed term of 50 years.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the right-
of-use assets of approximately RMB15,167,000 (2023:
RMB15,558,000) was pledged to bank for the Group’s bills
payables (Note 25) and bank borrowings (Note 29).

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

e EE SN T B A HROR
Ao ERAE - FTYHESOMN
TE HABR /3504F ©

R2024%12A31H EEEHAR
#15,167,0007C (2023%F : AR
15,558,0007T) K {F A& Z= 5 Bl 5t
REBMENZE (HiE25) RRITE
B (Mf5E29) I FR1T -

19. R—EBERTR 2B

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBF ARETT

Cost of investment in an associate REE QAT 2 IE KA

Share of post-acquisition loss and other > {E UK BB 12 E1E M Hib 2 mE

comprehensive loss B8

Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

5,700 5,700
(274) (195)
5,426 5,505

R BP0 - AR B A 0SS
mF -

Attributable equity
interest and voting
Place and date of Registered/ rights held Principal
Name of associate incorporation paid up capital by the Group activities
BenTEM AR S it B afEx,/ EREREN IEXH
RAH BREX EBUERERRREH#
2024 2023
2024%  2023%F
IMIRR KRB BRETLE The PRC, RMB15,000,000 20% 20%  Manufacturing of faux

Zhejiang Ketian Water Technology 31 December 2020
Co., Ltd* (“Ketian Water”)

IR AR HE AR
EERA (TRIRKIED) 2020F12A31H 15,000,0007T
* English name is for identification purpose only.

leather chemicals

BEATE(ER

FIREERARAR —E-EFFHR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z 20244 12 431 HIFF/Z
19. A—RBELA TR 2R (&)

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)
Summarised financial information of the associate below
which represents amounts shown in the associate’s financial
statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs:

BERRZMBEEMBINNT - %F
BRES IR IR B PR B 15 ¥R 5 R R AR
ZHE N BB RKRIN 28

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

720245 20234

12A31H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R AREFIT

Current assets mENEE 2,511 6,986

Non-current assets ERBEE 32,768 28,701
Current liabilities mEEE 1,005 1,019
Non-current liabilities EREBAE 7,141 7,141
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

B E20245 HE20234F

12A31H 12A31H

IEFEE FE

RMB'000 RMB’000

ARET R AREF T

Revenue A - -
Loss for the year FREE (394) (407)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAZHEBEEE (394) (407)

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z 20244 12 431 HIFF/Z

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 19. R—EBE AT 2= (&)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information LB E R E MR E B WmE
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate IR AV EE S A IR AR E AR
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
120244 20234
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARBTT
Net assets of the associate BERNRIMEEFE 27,133 27,527
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBGEE AR EEER
interest in the associate Lt 151 20% 20%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest 7N 58 B 7B & A B4 2 B9
in the associate FHEE 5,426 5,505
INVENTORIES 20. 7§
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBTT
Faux leather chemicals ATELER
— Raw materials —RM ¥ 12,987 13,387
— Work in progress — R 648 1,276
— Finished goods — BRI m 11,974 14,587
25,609 29,250
Chinese baijiu =i
— Raw materials (Note) — RAE (B EE) 18,460 26,149
— Finished goods — BRI M 608 52,913
19,068 79,062
44,677 108,312
Note: B 5E -
The Group purchases Chinese baijiu for resale, which are reclassified as AEBREHBALENBENBERSEN
finished goods upon completion of the packaging. DI REIR W o

FIREERARAR —E-EFFHR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2024 %F 12 431 HI1FFE
21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 2. EZRURERERREE

As at 31 December
M12A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®ETF T

Trade receivables (note i) B 5 el arE (B sE) 237,089 232,613
Less: provision for impairment B RERE (15,923) (9,270)

221,166 223,343
Bills receivables (note ii) FEU = (B =) 20,108 18,694

Total trade and bills receivables — net BB 5 W TE K eI ZE i —

R 241,274 242,037

The Group allows a credit period of 0 to 90 days to its faux AEERTHAIZEEREFOE

leather chemicals customers while 0 to 30 days to its Chinese RMEEH mMKETHBBEFO
Baijiu customers. F30RMEEH -

Notes: P EE

(i)  The following is an ageing analysis of gross amount of trade (h EBIHERFELBREZABRZIN
receivables presented based on the invoice date: BRI DTN T -

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT R ARBTF T

Within 30 days 30K 55,874 61,475

31 to 90 days 31290k 86,715 104,083

91 to 180 days 91E180K 54,612 53,421

181 to 365 days 181£365X 15,856 9,906

Over 1 year HBiE1F 24,032 3,728

237,089 232,613
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z 20244 12 431 HIFF/Z
21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(continued)

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables
are as follows:

21.

B RUREAREBRERE @)
Wi : ()

0 &)

B HRUGRIRBERBNESHIT

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTF T ARBTFT

At the beginning of the year REFA 9,270 5,209
Provision for impairment ERE 6,978 4,592
Written-off i (325) (531)
At the end of the year RER 15,923 9,270

The assessment on ECL are set out in note 5(ii)(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

The following is an ageing analysis of gross amount of bills

FREMEEERNTHRNGEY
T ER R M EE5(ib) ©

(i) EURRBEFREZDHN27IORER

receivable presented based on the invoice date: DT
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBEFTT
Within 30 days 30K A 3,802 5,615
31 to 90 days 31290k 7,872 5,323
91 to 180 days 91E 180K 8,434 7,756
20,108 18,694

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all bills receivables are with a
maturity period of less than 6 months.

The Group manages its bills receivables using the business
model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling such financial assets and hence, they are
categorised as financial assets measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income under IFRS 9.

20244 }2023%12A31H » Fr B &
W EE R EIERHA RS D 6 A -

AEBEERUKZENEBHEN B
IRUBANASRENHEZS S
BEE At REERMBEREE
AR KB R UEAFEF AR
fEEPRETENEREE -

FIREERARAR —E-EFFHR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 AL F/Z
21.

22,

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in
their entirety

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has endorsed certain
bills receivable accepted by banks in Mainland China (the
“Derecognised Bills”) to certain of its suppliers in order
to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers. The
aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Derecognised
Bills as at 31 December 2024 was RMB157,103,000 (2023:
RMB151,498,000). The Derecognised Bills had a maturity
of one to six months at the end of the reporting period.
In accordance with the applicable laws in the PRC, the
holders of the Derecognised Bills have a right of recourse
against the Group if the PRC banks default (the “Continuing
Involvement”). Nevertheless, in the opinion of the Directors,
the Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills as the credit risk
retained by the Group is insignificant. Accordingly, it has
derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised
Bills and the associated trade payables. The maximum
exposure to loss from the Group’s continuing involvement in
the Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to
repurchase these Derecognised Bills is equal to their carrying
amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of
the Group’s continuing involvement in the Derecognised Bills
are not significant.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

21.

22,

BEZRWREREBRERE @)
FERLEIANCERTHEE

#2024&12)%1 B AEERE
ETHEGSEREREAAR
%157,103,00071 (2023F : AR ¥
151,498,0007T) E & A B A #h 3R 17
2 X ETHRKER [RIEERE
B UWHEBERNZEHEENE
SHIE - I EREBR R ERR—
EXREAARE- - BEFBEEAE
B MEBPBRITEY AR IEE
REENRBEABERNASEER DY
BR((FE2H]) BENOYW - FF
A ARAEBMRENEERR
W RERX E&$¢l5$§&ﬁﬁ,\
ﬁ&u/bmbﬁm%ﬁﬁ_ﬁ &@#& .
JHZ Haigjﬁ/‘kiﬁwbz@tﬁngﬁé
FBREEA KB E S B IE o
EERFELER EREERED
ZERIIBEREZBRNAMRRERE
ZRANBERREENEERERE =
%umﬁ’j $$.$—J‘/f%§-ﬁi1ggﬂ:ﬁ€n/b—r
ERNAFETTERK -

ANRIE BERHEMBER

FIE

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARETIT
Current R
Other receivables, net of allowance of ~ EMEUEKIE - IR TERREE
ECL BERE 395 4
Other tax receivables H A fE W R I8 4,831 11,245
Deposits “e 84 135
Prepayments (note (a)) BT IE (F5E@) 201,977 124,130
207,287 135,514
Non-current FERE
Prepayments for property, plant and M BERZREBER
equipment (note (b)) (M 5E () 8,116 42,305
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z
22 EARE RERHMENK

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Included in prepayment at 31 December 2024 is advance payment
of approximately RMB91,000,000 (2023: RMB53,083,000) made
to an advertiser who is an independent third party for building
the brand of the Chinese baijiu that the Group sells, and payment
of approximately RMB105,000,000 (2023: RMB60,000,000) made
to wine suppliers who are independent third parties for producing
the wine.

The prepayments for property, plant and equipment at 31
December 2024 mainly included the acquisition of the equipments
of the Group's faux leather chemicals business of approximately
RMB6,170,000. The prepayments for property, plant and
equipment at 31 December 2023 mainly included (i) advance
payment made to a construction vendor who is an independent
third party for the construction works to be carried out for
opening of bistros of RMB28,000,000 and (i) the acquisition of
the properties for the office and research center of the Group’s
faux leather chemicals business of approximately RMB 10,000,000,
which were fulfilled and completed on 7 February 2024.

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

I (#)
GEE

(a

R2024F12 A3MBMEN FIBERER
— BB E=ZFEEEIANIEMS K
I8 49 A R #91,000,0007T (20234 = A
R #53,083,0007T) AT EAREEHE
MEBRE ARRBERBIE=F
O £ i 7 37 15 49 AR #5105,000,000
7 (20234 : AR ¥ 60,000,0007T) BA
EEAE-

MR2024F12A31B W E - BB M
EENFBZTEREAELASEENA
TR EREBEERBEHARE
6,170,0007T ° 2023512 A31H &4
¥ B EMEEBENTBEIEZAE
(V&R ENB R AR NVEENE
ETRMA—ZBYE = TEE
S TE A FRIB AR B 28,000,000
TR EBALENBREBKS
WRERATRBPLWREDEHARE
10,000,0007T @ B U B8 B 7202492 A
TREEN R

23. BRAFEFAEBEZENERE

=
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETIT
Listed securities EWES

— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong - & E LT 2 RAE S 5,972 9,522

The listed equity securities are classified as current as the
management expects to realise these financial assets within
twelve months after the reporting period. The listed equity
securities are stated at fair values which are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices.

HREEERPRRERR - @A

A

RAREFLMEE  REMBRARE

HFOBERRE - LTHRABHIRSE

mi5

FIREERERAF

REBEZAFETRE-

—E-mEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BT IR R M
For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2024 %F 12 431 HI1FFE

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

(a)

(b)

Cash and cash equivalents

2. e RBACEHSEYREEH
MITEMK
(@) RERREEEY

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETx ARETIT
Cash at bank and on hand IRITRFERS 54,726 48,952

Cash at banks deposit earn interest at floating rates
based on daily bank deposit rates.

As at 31 December 2024, bank balances and cash
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted
to approximately RMB54,681,000 (2023:
RMB48,772,000). RMB is not a freely convertible
currency in the PRC and the remittance of funds out
of the PRC is subject to the rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government. For the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
denominated in RMB located in Hong Kong are not
subject to the foreign exchange control.

Pledged bank deposits

As at 31 December 2024, bank deposits of the
Group of approximately RMB3,475,000 (2023:
RMB4,300,000) are pledged as collateral for issuing
bills payables (Note 25).

25. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

RITFEFRESREFARITE
SRR 3277 B F R EREUR B, o

MR2024F12A831H » REE LA
ARBFEZETEH LB S
AH N R #54,681,0007T (2023
£ AR #48,772,0007T) ° A
RERPHIIEATBHRLIRE
B - 1A B3R HINEE SR E 8 ST
R B BT ) TE B 2 BE B I AR R
NEHR -RNEBREBUAR
BAEMNRERASEEDND
AXINEE HIHR o

(b) SEFEITHER
M2024F12A831H » AEE Y
AR #3,475,0007T (20234 : A
R #4,300,0007T) FIRTTE K E
B ERENETEENK
i (FE25) ©

25 EFENRERENEZE

As at 31 December

M12A318
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBTT
Trade payables g 5N I8 41,586 39,176
Bills payables (note 1) FERT I8 (FisE1) 28,696 12,362
70,282 51,538

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

2024 Annual Report




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R HRAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z
25. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (continued)

The average credit period from suppliers is up to 30 to
90 days. The following is an ageing analysis of trade
payables (including those that are part of supplier finance
arrangements) presented based on the invoice date at the
end of the reporting period:

5. BEZRNRERENRE (@

HEFRHEN FHEERRRERIE
90K - MMEHKRE ZEITFIRA (B
EEREERRELH Mo E)
HEAHRIRESTESINT

As at 31 December

M®12A31H
2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tx ARBTIT
Within 30 days 30K A 16,108 19,059
31 to 90 days 31290k 14,367 11,999
91 to 180 days 91 180K 8,463 6,119
181 to 365 days 181E365K 1,348 1,275
Over 1 year HEiE 1 1,300 724
41,586 39,176
Note 1 These relate to trade payables in which the Group has issued MEE bIE P RS B MAAEERNERSR

bills to the relevant suppliers for settlement of trade payables.
The suppliers can obtain the invoice amounts from the bank
on the maturity date of the bills. The Group continues to
recognise these as trade and bills payables as the Group is
obliged to make payments to the relevant banks on due
dates of the bills, under the same conditions as agreed with
the suppliers without further extension. In the consolidated
statement of cash flows, settlements of these bills by the
Group are included within operating cash flows based on the
nature of the arrangements.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all bills payables are
with a maturity period of less than 6 months.

Bills payables of approximately RMB28,696,000 (2023:
RMB12,362,000) were pledged by buildings of approximately
RMB19,210,000 (2023: RMB20,849,000), right-of-use assets
of approximately of RMB15,167,000 (2023: RMB15,558,000)
and bank deposit of RMB3,475,000 (2023: RMB4,300,000).

BAKEEZENKER - HERAIR
SRINMAARTISHRESE &
MAEBEEZRZEIHE (EEER
1 7 2 R AE R BT HI) A 43 BE 3R
TEROINRER  WIDBZBRERR
BHRNFTARENRE - EHEAR
EREBRT  ARELEEHERELZ
Ben CERZELHIEENE
ANELTEBIREIT o

R20244F 2023512 A318 » Fi B JE
NEBEOEIHERE L R6@EA -

JERTZ 4 AR #28,696,0007C
(2023%F : AR%12,362,0007T) MA
4 AN R #19,210,0007T (20234 :
A R #20,849,0000T) WAEF « &9 A
K #15,167,0007T (2023%F : AR
15,558,0007T) W A EEE Kk A
K #3,475,0007T (2023F : AR
4,300,0007T) K ER1TIF SN E 7 ©

FIREERARAR —E-EFFHR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HiIFF/Z
26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

26. Htt A RIERETE

As at 31 December

M12H31H

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBFIT

Accrued staff costs fEsH B T A 3,276 3,855
Accrued expenses and other payables FEET R 2 IR H Ath FE 1< ;IR

(note (a)) (Kt7E@)) 10,586 8,276

Other tax payables H fth pE 1718 1,841 2,372

Contract liabilities (note (b)) a#aE (MEEb) 2,915 804

18,618 15,307

notes:

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

The balances as at 31 December 2024, included amounts due to
non-controlling interests of approximately RMB3,525,000 (2023:
RMB3,525,000), are unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand.

Contract liabilities related to sales of faux leather chemicals
contracts and sales of wine products. All contracts are for periods
within one year. Entire amount of the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year was recognised as revenue during the year
31 December 2024.

As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted approximately
to RMB609,000.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amounts of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

The Group received certain amount from customers as deposits

before the sales of faux leather chemicals and sales of wine
products are completed.

2024 Annual Report

MR2024F12 8318 2 s B R FE S 3E
7 % R SN TE A9 A R #63,525,0007T
(2023% : AR #3,525,0007T) @ A
B RERBRERER -

AHMBBYRALIELERBEAY
MBAEERBEE FBEHNHRE A
—FR-FPAHNABENEZHSEY
RELE2024F12A318 L FERER
BUA -

MB2023F1ATH - ANABLE ALY
AR #609,0007T °

FEEMRANAESREZBENRK
T

FEBNAIZCE2REERBEEE
mIHETERZAIE B & P WEE T 5K
BIERES o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z 20244 12 431 HIFF/Z

27. DEFERRED INCOME

27. EIEW A

As at 31 December

M12A31H

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT AR®ETF T
Assets related governments grants & 2 MR 69 B 4 B 3,774 3,910

Movement of assets related government grants: BEMRBNBTRHBEIES -
RMB’000
ARBFT
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1H1H 547
Addition NE 3,500
Credited to profit or loss FFAEZE (137)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 72023512 A31H K2024F1H1H 3,910
Credited to profit or loss FFAE=E (136)
At 31 December 2024 72024128311 3,774

FEIBXEEZERERLAT —ZT-HOFFR
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e MR ERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HiIFF/Z

27. DEFERRED INCOME (continued)

Government grant of approximately RMB1,300,000 was
received in 2017 in relation to the subsidy for acquisition of

certain machinery.

Government grant of approximately RMB3,500,000 was
received in 2023 in related to the subsidy for acquisition of

certain machinery.

The carrying amount of deferred income of the Group

analysed for reporting purposes as:

27. IEEW A (#&)
FA20174F B U R B AT 48 B 40 A R
1,300,0007T + B Uy B 2 T 14 22 & #8 B
B o

R2023F B BB T B 9 A R
3,500,0007T @ E2UN B & T 22 A BY
B -

AREERETEWARREENR RS B &
DA

As at 31 December

MR12A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBET T
Current portion mENE S 487 487
Non-current portion EMBNER 3,287 3,423
3,774 3,910

28. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES
The amounts due to related companies, indirectly partly
owned by Mr. Chen Hua, who is a key management
personnel of the Group, are non-trade nature, unsecured,

interest free and repayable on demand.

29. BANK BORROWINGS

28. EHBEELBRIE
FEfHREE R B (BFREE S A REL S
WE BRELEAFEDIETEE)
REBEESHMNE  EIKE . 2ERK
EIRESEE -

29. RITHEE

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR®ETF T
Bank borrowings — unsecured RITIEE — &K 25,000 15,000
Bank borrowings — secured RITIEE - BEM 39,500 10,000
Amounts shown under current liabilities B EE T R& % 64,500 25,000

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HIFF/Z

29. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

According to the repayment schedule, the bank borrowings
are repayable as follows:

29. RITEE (&)

RBEERER  RITEEERAT
A E R

As at 31 December

MW12A8318
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
On demand mEXR 15,000 15,000
Within one year —F R 49,500 10,000
64,500 25,000

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings of approximately
RMB64,500,000 were denominated in RMB (2023:
RMB25,000,000).

The ranges of effective interest rates (which equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as
follows:

M2024FE12 8318 RITEEHAR
#64,500,0007C A A REESHE (2023 -
25,000,0007T) ©

AEBRBENERNEX (ZREHF
F)GHEMT

As at 31 December

=
=

Fixed rate borrowings (] 7 A1)
Variable rate borrowings FE)F X
The Group’s variable-rate borrowings carry interest at Loan
prime rate —0.55%. Interest is reset every year.

MW128318
2024 2023
20244 20234
3.00%-3.05% 3.75%
2.8% 3.65%

REBFHFNEEERERERFE
0.55%:T B - MEXZFEE -

As at 31 December

M12H31H
Borrowings comprise: ERBeE 2024 2023
20244 20234
Fixed-rate borrowings EREES 49,500 10,000
Variable rate borrowings EEREREE 15,000 15,000
64,500 25,000
FTIBXEERERAT —T-HWFEFIR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z 20244 12 431 HIFF/Z

29. BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 29. RITEE (#)
Assets of the Group pledged to secure the bank borrowings RERBITEEMEANAIESEEE
comprise: B

As at 31 December

M12A318
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARWT T ARETT

Right-of-use assets CREEE 15,167 15,558
Building BF 19,210 20,849

1 52 DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZF 20244 12 A31 H I F/Z

30. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 30. IEEBIIREE
The components of deferred tax assets recognised in REMBARRERANEROELETIBE
the consolidated statement of financial position and the EHny MmEEHANEZEHNT
movements during the reporting period are as follows:
Provision of
impairment
WER A
RMB’000
AREF T
At 1 January 2023 720231 H1H 781
Credited to profit or loss (note 12) FFAEZ (FFE12) 836
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 72023912 A31H K2024F1H1H 1,617
Credited to profit or loss (note 12) sFAEZE (FFE12) 1,083
At 31 December 2024 72024412 A31H 2,700

31.

Note:

As at 31 December 2024, no deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of approximately RMB32,209,000 and RMB52,000 respectively
(2023: RMB27,222,000 and nil respectively) of unused tax losses arising
in Hong Kong and PRC due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Such losses may be carried forward indefinitely in Hong Kong
and expire in PRC for five years.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme
include any directors and employees of the Company,
including all executive directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective on 10 February
2020 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from that date.

31.

Mo

2024512 A318 » B KR BETERI R 2 F
TR M ERBEERPRELEZ RBAR
TEEE 5 B4 A R #32,209,0007T & A R
52,0007 (20234 : 5 5l A R#27,222,000
TRE)ERAETCHBEAE -ZSEBENE
SRR EIAEE - MR EAIRFER -

st 8l
ARBRAERESE (8D - 8
EAHAEEEERNELERZE
BRSEERHEDELOER - Z
AR ZAERSEEREAATMEM
EXLREE  BREAQRALEMBELR
IR FTB MITE S © 51 8110202042
A10B &% - BRIESTTREHENIER]
BRI BZBEEI0FABRL -

FIREERARAR —E-EFFHR
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e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BFE2024F 12 31 HIFFE

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 31.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time. The maximum number
of shares issuable under share options to each eligible
participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period is
limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time. Any further grant of share option in excess of this limit
is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The share options granted to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their subsidiaries, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value
(based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of
the grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 14 days from the date of the offer, upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.
The exercise period of the share options granted would be
determined by the directors. The exercise price of the share
options would be determined by the directors, but may not
be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer of
the share options, which must be a business day; and (ii)
the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of the offer, provided that the subscription price shall
not be lower than the nominal value of the shares.

Following the effect of the Share Consolidation as referred
to in note 32 on 30 May 2023, the options may be granted
under the Schemes shall not exceed 20,000,000 Shares.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Company did not grant any share options to directors,
employees or other parties. There were no outstanding share
options as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. IR

Details of movements of share capital of the Company are as

ARBRBRAZEEFHIFMT

follows:
Number of Share
shares capital
BRAEE B
RMB’000
ARETF T
Authorised: AT
At 1 January 2023, ordinary share of R2023F1A18 - ®RE{E0.0005% T
US$0.0005 each VEBR 2,000,000,000 6,700
Share consolidation (note (a)) B4 B (B3E@) (1,600,000,000) -
Increase in authorised share capital (note (a)) $E0E T AR A (Bt 32 (a)) 1,600,000,000 28,327
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 and #2023F12A431H ~ 20241818 It
31 December 2024, ordinary share of 2024128318 © BIRHE{E0.0025% T
S$0.0025 each VT 2,000,000,000 35,027
Issued and fully paid: BEETRER
At 1 January 2023, ordinary share R2023F1 A8
of US$0.0005 each B E0.0005% LAY &A% 1,440,000,000 4,962
Share Consolidation (note (a)) BE B (BT3E@) (1,152,000,000) -
Shares issued under rights issue (note (b)) BB 1T (B (PR EEb)) 432,000,000 7,743
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 and R2023F12A431H ~ 20241818 It
31 December 2024, ordinary share 20245127318 - BIREE0.0025% T
of US$0.0025 each VL 720,000,000 12,705
FTIBXEERERAT —T-HWFEFIR
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32. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a)

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

On 30 May 2023, the Company implemented share consolidation
and increase in authorised share capital, which involves the
following:

(i) Every five issued and unissued existing share (“Existing
Share(s)”) of par value of US$0.0005 each will be
consolidated into one share of par value of US$0.0025
each (the “Consolidated Shares”).

(i) Following the Share Consolidation, in order to increase
the issued share capital of the Company the authorised
share capital of the Company was increased from
US$1,000,000 (divided into 2,000,000,000 Existing Shares)
to US$5,000,000 (divided into 10,000,000,000 Existing
Shares) (or 2,000,000,000 Consolidated Shares upon
the Share Consolidation) (“Increase in Authorised Share
Capital”).

Details of the Consolidated Shares and Increase in Authorised
Share Capital were contained in the Company’s announcements
dated 5 March 2023, 14 April 2023, 18 April 2023, 5 May 2023,
12 May 2023, 29 May 2023 and 30 May 2023.

On 28 July 2023, the Company issued the rights issue on the
basis of three rights shares (the “Right Shares”) for every two
shares amounted to 432,000,000 Right Shares of HK$0.67 to
independent parties for the development of the Chinese Liquor
Business and support the Faux Leather Chemicals Business.
The net proceeds from the rights issue was approximately
RMB263,580,000 and RMB255,837,000 was recognised as
share premium. Details of the rights issue were contained in the
Company’s announcements dated 5 March 2023, 18 April 2023,
5 May 2023, 9 June 2023, 3 July 2023 and 27 July 2023.

All the shares issued ranked pari passu in all respects with the
existing shares in issue.

2024 Annual Report

32. BA (&)

B

(a

R2023F5H30H * AR R EHEKMHE
HRBIVEERE  ERPRATSE
18 :

() BAREFEITEREFTERE
{80.0005% T 2 IR B IR H ([
BERm)) BEMHAE—KRERE
{80.0025F L2 & BFiE D ([&
BERRD ) ©

(i) HREHEHE  BIEMMARR
ZEBITRA BAQAZ
& TE B% 7N B31,000,0003 7T (9
72,000,000,0000% 38 & % %)
1 f1E5,000,000% 7T (9 A
10,000,000,0000% 38, A i {5) (2k
RER&tn & OF H24#£2,000,000,000
B OrAR D) ([ A REAN]) -

ARG R DA TE R 2 FFIFE R
AKX 7] B HA202343 A58 - 20234
47148 - 202348188 * 202345
A58 2023458128 + 202345A4
29H K2023F5H308 2 A% °

M2023F7A28H + AR FIREBHAM
IR0 3 = AR AR AR 4 (T AR 1)
ZEEETEHE - AIR067B T 2B
& %8 32 8 = 77 %£97432,000,0000% i
Bl BEEBEABEBRIFA
TE{ERER - HRZFAEREF
B A4 A R #263,580,0007T & A R #E
255,837,0007T 2 M52 A A5 5 & o i
IRz FBEER A AT B A202353
HA5H * 2023F4 188 ~ 20234545
H - 2023%F6HA9H * 2023F7A3H &
2023F7A27TB Z A% »

FECDETRONMAETEERAR
BITRNDZERRFMAL
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33. REEDELENAEEHK

33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details the cash flows and non-cash changes
in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities.
Except as disclosed below, there were no non-cash changes
in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities.

TRAVAREREEDELNEE
MIRERERIFRSEE - I T XK
AEERETHEENAE
WHEIFR GBS

BEEN

Amounts due

to related Bank
companies  borrowings Total
FEfF
BAE N EIE RITEE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AR®TR
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1 A1H 447 10,000 10,447
Change from financing cash flows:  RIER & REE
Interest paid ERFE - (638) (688)
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIEEMBFIE - 25,000 25,000
Repayment of bank borrowings BRBFIEE - (10,000) (10,000)
Advance from related companies Bzl NI E= TN 1,006 - 1,006
1,006 14,312 15,318
Other change: HAh &g -
Interest expense FSFXZ - 688 638
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12A31H
and 1 January 2024 %2024%181AH 1,453 25,000 26,453
Change from financing cash flows:  BERE&REE
Interest paid ERHE - (1,400) (1,400)
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIEEMEFIE - 49,500 49,500
Repayment of bank borrowings EBRFITEE - (10,000) (10,000)
Repayment to related companies ERMENAIRIE (990) - (990)
(990) 38,100 37,110
Other change: Hoth &
Interest expense FERX - 1,400 1,400
At 31 December 2024 720244124318 463 64,500 64,963
FEIMELERERAT —B-NEFH 157
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(@) Statement of financial position of the Company

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HiIFF/Z

34. AR AHMBMRRRRHE

() AR2ATFBARREK

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
s AR¥ET T ARET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RSB R R/ E 36,000 36,000
Amounts due from subsidiaries &K B A 7 B 323,308 322,915
359,308 358,915
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE - 4,635
Trade receivables =Y A& e 3,778 -
Prepayments and TE AT TR IE Ko HoAth FE Y k1B
other receivables - 81
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFABEN S
BE 5,972 9,522
Bank balances and cash RITEBR MRS 2 86
9,752 14,324
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals Bt fE~f 5008 M fE AT & F 6,176 3,880
Amounts due to subsidiaries  FETHIE A B IE 2,791 2,791
8,967 6,671
Net current assets REBEEFE 785 7,653
Total assets less current HWEERRBAERE
liabilities 360,093 366,568
Net assets EEFE 360,093 366,568
Capital and reserves EXR®EE
Share capital LN 12,705 12,705
Reserves f#E b 347,388 353,863
360,093 366,568

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GEBEHRERMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2024 F 12 431 HIFF/E

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34. XA RBMBR IR EEE &)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) XD EREEEE
Share Exchange  Accumulated Total
premium reserve losses equity
R EE B 5 RABR LY
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETE ARETR

At 1 January 2023 202351 18 202,858 2,105 (104,088) 100,875
Loss for the year FREE - - (3,360) (3,360)
Other comprehensive loss FREMEZHEER

for the year - 511 - 511
Total comprehensive loss FRZEBBAR

for the year - 511 (3,360) (2,849)
Issue of shares from rights issue 1R & A% 21T R 17 258,305 - - 258,305

Transaction costs attributable B 3E IR EATHE 1
toissue of shares from rights ~ FE(R B A
issue (2,468) - - (2,468)

At 31 December 2023 and W20235F12A318 1

1 January 2024 2024F1H1H 458,695 2,616 (107,448) 353,863
Loss for the year FREE - - (7,020) (7,020)
Other comprehensive income  FREM2EKRA

for the year - 545 - 545
Total comprehensive FREERA/(EH8)

income/(loss) for the year k| - 545 (7,020) (6,475)
At 31 December 2024 $2024%12A31H 458,695 3,161 (114,468) 347,388

FIREERARAR —E-EFFHR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HiIFF/Z

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(c) Distributability of reserves

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium of the Company may be applied for
payment of distributions or dividends to shareholders
provided that immediately following the date on which
the distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

The aggregate amount of distributable reserves
of the Company as at 31 December 2024 was
RMB344,227,000 (2023: RMB351,247,000).

35. MATERIAL RELATED PARTIES
TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions and
balances with its related parties during the reporting period:

(a) Recurring transactions

34. XRFBMBMRRKRKHE @)

(0 REzZDE
RERASEERRE AR A
B B 10 O B AT A3 R 1) AR R 2 A
DR IE R B X
ok B2 BEIE - AR
AIAREANBEEBBIEPX
NBIH R ETS -

KA A R2024%12A318H 2
ARSRHFEHEBESEAARE
344,227,0007T (20234 : AR
351,247,0007T) °

35. EXEERFRS

BEAMBERRTEMEMMNES
S ANERER R BN BRI T 1T
MR 5 KA

(a) BREMERS
Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREETT
Sales of faux leather chemicalstoa M—ZRBIEHHEATLE
related party b2 m
— Hanzhou Sunlight Biochemical —PUINRE £V B BIR
Material Co., Ltd.* (note (a)) 7~ Al (FEE) 4,400 1,206
Rental expenses to a related party S F—ZEEHFWEESHAY
— Hanzhou Qiyue Investment —MINE IR B EEBR
Management Co., Ltd.* A (P (b))
(note (b)) - 1,350
* English name is for identification purpose only.

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z

35. MATERIAL RELATED PARTIES
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) Recurring transactions (continued)

Notes:

(a)

The Group has entered into sales agreement with
Hangzhou Sunlight Biochemical Material Co., Ltd. for the
sales of faux leather chemicals at market terms with other
customers.

(i) Hangzhou Sunlight Biochemical Material Co., Ltd. is
partly indirectly owned by Mr. Chen Hua, he is a key
management personnel of the Group.

In 2023, the Group entered into lease agreement and
supplemental lease agreement with Hangzhou Qiyue
Investment Management Co., Ltd. for a term commenced
on 1 January 2023 and ended on 30 June 2023; and 1 July
2023 and ended on 31 December 2023 for the lease of the
leased premise (the “Leased Premises”). The rent payable
under the lease agreement was determined with reference
to the prevailing market rent for similar properties at the
same development and in neighbouring areas at which
the leased premises are located, such that the rent payable
under the lease agreement is fair and reasonable and
consistent with the market rent for similar premises in
similar locations. The transaction contemplated under
the Lease Agreement is fully exempt from shareholders’
approval and all disclosure requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

(i) Hangzhou Qiyue Investment Management Co., Ltd.
is owned by Mr. Chen Hua.

35. EXEAELR S (&)

(a)

FIREERERAF

FHUEXS (E)

GEE

(a)

REEE BMNRE EMMH
BERDAFIZEE R AR
THERAEMEPHEAT
FLEm-

()  TIREEDHHERR
Al H BRI e A AR
B RAAEETIRER
AE e

M2023F - AEEGREREE
W (THREWE] 825N E
WA ERER ARG AR
Whak R s M E 1% - HIBR M
202341 A 18 #£ 5202396730
B & R A M2023E7A1BEE
2023F12A31A &R - IREHM
ERzENZHeH2ERE
V) 3£ FI7 B 0 3 [ 12 % R AR E AR
EVMENENMSHeEE
AitBEHEHEERG Z2HES
BATEE HEEERSEE
MENTERL R -TEW
FETHRENRZIEZERE
BT ETARAIE1AAZ AR L
ERFTBETERTE °

(i) INEHEEREEEERA
AIRRESEHES -

—E-mEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z 20244 12 431 HIFF/Z

35. MATERIAL RELATED PARTIES 35. ERBEARS (&)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel (b) FEEBAESHM
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®F T ARETTT

Salaries, allowances and benefits ¥4 - 28y R EWEF

in kind 2,574 2,798
Contributions to retirement RREFET B R
benefits schemes 102 44
2,676 2,842
36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 36. EAREE
Capital commitments of the Group as at 31 December 2024 AREE B 720244 22023612 A31H K
and 2023 not provided for in the consolidated financial RERE IS mE P e B E & &
statements were as follows: BT

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARBTT

Contracted but not provided for = 5] #J18 K B &
— Purchase of property, plant —BEWE - BB &K
and equipment 1,451 1,614

DIWANG INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2024 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 431 HILF/Z

37. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group has established the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for its Hong Kong employees.
The assets of the scheme are held separately in funds
which are under the control of independent trustees. The
retirement benefit scheme contributions charged to profit
or loss represent contributions paid or payable by the Group
to the scheme at 5% of each of the employees’ monthly
relevant income capped at HK$30,000. In addition, the
PRC employees employed by the Group are members of
the state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by
the PRC Government. The Group is required to contribute
at certain percentage of the eligible employees’ salaries to
the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit schemes is to make the required contributions
under the schemes. At 31 December 2024 and 2023, there
were no forfeited contributions available to reduce future
obligations. The total contributions made by the Group to
the MPF Scheme and the PRC retirement benefit schemes
(excluding directors’ remuneration) for the year ended 31
December 2024 are RMB3,189,000 (2023: RMB3,579,000).

37. RIKBERIFTE

AEBDEAEBERER AT MR
Berral ([HRERTE) - ZFrElm
BEUNBIYEIAEENESEAS
FFE - R BR AR IKEFIFHE
MR ABAREE RS 8 LA® A30,000
BLAELEBRONEBEBS A KRASRE R
KB AT EI MR o thoh - ANEE
ERAMNFTEREEHSINEF RBATE
WHBRRERRRBEAFE - NEE
ERAERBEEHENE AR
KERETEEEHAR - U ZERE
FMEBR AEERZFRKEFFE
ZH—BEEARREBZTEIELAEDN
MK o FR20244F %2023F 1273318 -
I 4 A A AR A R 2R B AR 2 08 Wt
Heo B E2024F12A31H ILFE - K
£ E A58 18 518 K P BR (R AE FT
BMER 2 BB (TREBEEEEHH)
A AR #3,189,0007T (2023F : AR
#3,579,0007T) ©

FIREERARAR —E-EFFHR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2024 F 12 431 HIFF/E
38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 38. FEMBE A TFFE

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEWBRBZFBEAT

Place and date of Attributable equity
incorporation interest and voting
and principal place Registered/  power held by the Principal
Name of Subsidiary of operation paid up capital Company activities
WEARERE MRS R B amER/ P NGIESE ST |
URTEEXHE BRkEx BERERRR#E IEXK
2024 2023
2024%  2023%

HIREFMHBEARA PRC, 18 December 2003 RMB90,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing
7] Zhejiang Sunlight Material and sales of faux
Technology Co., Ltd* (“Zhejiang leather chemicals
Sunlight”)

MIREFMHRRERA B - 2003512188 AR% 100% 100% HERHEALE
(DHTRE]) 90,000,0007T t2m
FEREEERERLAR PRC, 12 January 2022 RMB3,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
(note)

RRBEERER RE 2022618128 N 100% 100% REZRR
(M3E) 3,000,0007C
BEMBEHERREEERAA PRC, 30 March 2022 RMBS5,000,000 70.5% 70.5% Manufacturing and
sales of Chinese
baijiu

EMTREEBEERAA FE - 202293A308 AR 705%  705% RERHEHE

5,000,0007T

BERIAFEBEERAA PRC, 3 March 2023 RMBS5,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing and

sales of Chinese
baijiu

BRIGFEEXERLA BE - 2023F3A3A ARE 100% 100% BERHERE

5,000,0007T

note: Registered as wholly-owned foreign enterprises under the PRC

law.

it : REBEHEDEREMAIEBERE -

FREIARBEERR/RIBRER
EEEEREENARAMEBAR -

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group.
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39. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED 39. BEEAFEERESENIIES
=l PNGIEER

SUBSIDIARY THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Summarised financial information in respect of & /M ity
T #E B % B R A 7], which the Group has material non-
controlling interests, is set out below. The non-controlling
interests held 29.5% of ownership interests and voting rights
in the subsidiary. The summarised financial information of &
I 75t £ 2B % AR A A) prepared in accordance with the
material accounting policies of the Group are as follows:

EMFHEBBEEERAT
Financial information of statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income

ERAEEBEE B REERERNE
MEHEEBREBRAFZHBE
B ZE 50T o IEIERRE ST A%
B AR Z295%FT A kD MIEE
o REBEAEEERSTHRRFEEDN
EMNFHEEBEERABZHBKE

MELZET

BEMNFHEIBEXZERAF
Rt REM 2 E Wi kI HEEF

2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR®TT
Revenue WA - 217,377
Cost of sales SHE AR - (130,309)
Expenses sz (52) (61,853)
Reversal of impaired loss on trade B 5 REKGRIE 2B EEERD
receivables - 531
(Loss)/profit before taxation BR& AT (E518), R (52) 25,746
Income tax expense FTSiA = - (7,364)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(E8R),/ S5 (52) 18,382
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive AT~ A+ EEFR (BE),J5F &
(loss)/income for the year 2 (E18) WA B85
attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company RAmERERA (37 12,959
Non-controlling interests of the
Group NEE R R (15) 5,423
(52) 18,382

FIREERARAR —E-EFFHR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z 20244 12 431 HIFF/Z

39. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED  39.
SUBSIDIARY THAT HAVE MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)
BEMNFHEIEEXZRARAF

BREARFEREZNESR
=) PSS 1E )

BEMNFHLEIEEXZRRAF

Financial information of statement of financial BB R BEER
position
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREEFTT
Non-current assets ERBEE - -
Current assets RBEE 120,784 120,836
Current liabilities neatE (37,227) (37,227)
83,557 83,609
Equity attributable to: AT AT RER
Equity holders of the Company ZAYNEIE: EES TS DN 58,907 58,944
Non-controlling interests of the RNEEIEE fo”_
Group, representing accumulated ERFERWEBA
non-controlling interests of the < REHIEE ﬂﬂzﬁﬁ{l
subsidiary at the end of the year 24,650 24,665
83,557 83,609
Financial information of statement of cash flows BEREXHBER
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETIT
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from KEEHIRS CRE),/RAFE
operating activities (132) 84,666
Net cash outflow from investing activity % & /EE)IR & 7 H F58 - (120,000)
Net cash inflow from financing activities B & &R &R AFEE
—included in consolidated statement ~ — it AGAEBERER
of cash flows - -
— eliminated on consolidation — & DI 5 8E - 2,266
- 2,266
Net cash outflow R R F5E (132) (33,068)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZF 20244 12 A31 H I F/Z

40. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 27 December 2024, the Company, as the vendor, and
the purchaser (an independent third party) entered into a
conditional sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which
the vendor conditionally agreed to sell, and the purchaser
conditionally agreed to purchase, the Sale Shares (which
represent 25% of the issued share capital of Darkblue
Investment Ltd (“the Target Company”), a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) at the Purchase Price.

The purchase price of RMB20,840,000 shall be paid by
installments in cash.

The Target Company is directly wholly-owned by the Vendor.
Upon the completion of the sale and purchase of the Sale
Shares in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
sale and purchase agreement, the Target Company will be
held as to 75% by the Vendor and 25% by the purchaser.
Therefore, the Target Company will continue to be a
subsidiary of the Company following the completion and
its financial results will continue to be consolidated with the
results of the Group. As the effect of the disposal (upon the
completion) is not expected to cause a loss of the Group’s
control over the Target Company, the disposal (upon the
completion) is expected to be accounted for as an equity
transaction that will not result in the recognition of any gain
or loss in profit or loss for the Company.

The completion shall take place on or before 31 May 2025
or any other date as may be agreed between the vendor and
the purchaser.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
on 27 December 2024.

40.

BREHRER

F2024F 128278 - AR F ((EBE
FIEER (BYE=ZA)FNEEWH
OB BERFERHRELE M
BEREKHERENBEEEEL SR
DUEEEARARNEEEZENB AR
Darkblue Investment Ltd ([ B&&2A A )
EBITIRAZ225%) °

i B (B AR %20,840,0007T FE LAIR &
DHIZ AT o

BREARHENEREZEHRA IR
BEEHANER LG TKEE
HERNE - BREARERELNRE
75%  HE TR A25% Bt - B 1R
NEVE TR AR A HE B VR R AR R R RO MY
BAR HUBEEBEERAEE
MEEEH ARFEHHEFRE R
TRE) T EEYAREHBIREQT
MR B RS - HEFH (RTKR)
BHIRIER—BRER S AR T8
FEARR R IE 1 R Y s S

18 e

SR % 7202555 A31H 8k Z A sk &
HHEE U EREMNEMB BEE -

BN ARN T BHA2024F12 A27

HE)DRE o

FIREERARAR —E-EFFHR
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Five Year Financial Summary

EIFUBRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &% 2024 F 12 431 HiIFF/Z

AEBSOREMBFEENFEREER
BEME (BERAETIENKREREAY
Bz I

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited consolidated financial statements is set out

below:
RESULTS E 4
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ELEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224 20214 20205
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AEETT AREFTR ARETR AREFTT ARETH
Revenue VN 566,475 570,572 501,437 233,945 134,441
Profit/(loss) before taxation Bang#/(B18) 35,504 35,637 62,667 (1,476) (2,788)
Income tax expenses FiEHEY (5.489) (10,763) (23,049) (1,124) (369)
Profit/(loss) for the year FraFl/ (E8) 30,015 24,874 39,618 (2,600) (3,157)
Profit/(loss) for the year ARAREANEEEE
attributable to owners #@H/ (68
of the Company 30,030 19,451 21,851 (2,600) (3,157)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 December
W12A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224 20214 20205
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARETRT ARETRT ARETR
Total assets BEE 827,684 737,591 446,378 313,174 264,007
Total liabilities BafE (158,940) (99,005) (95,995) (43,595) (26,656)
Total equity wER 668,744 638,586 350,383 269,579 237,351
The summary above does not form part of the audited bl BEREKRKEFXGESPEHRERNH—

consolidated financial statements. 2B
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